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Having overcome the world’s worst 
fi nancial crisis in recent history, Penguin 
is continuing its focus on its core 
competency in being an integrated ship 
builder-owner-operator in the marine and 
offshore industry.

We are poised to take on bigger 
challenges, and as the global economic 
recovery gains momentum, we are ready 
to ride on new waves of opportunities 
within our core capabilities. 
    

STRENGTH 
IN FOCUS





FOCUSED ON 
IMPLEMENTING 
KEY STRATEGIES

From our humble beginnings as an 
operator of wooden “bumboat” ferry 
services, Penguin has grown into a 
publicly listed integrated ship builder, 
owner and operator in the global marine 
and offshore services industry, with key 
operations in Southeast Asia and the 
Middle East. This extraordinary journey 
of growth was made possible by the 
Group’s foresight in implementing 
major strategies towards becoming an 
integrated builder-owner-operator. 

Penguin Shipyard International is an 
established builder of high-speed 
aluminium vessels in Asia, with more 
than 50 vessels in our portfolio. 
Supported by our own shipyards in 

Singapore and Batam, Indonesia, with 
a combined land area of over 55,000 
square metres, Penguin Shipyard 
International is the builder of our 
popular “FLEX-36” series of offshore 
crewboats, as well as a variety of 
offshore and commercial vessels, 
including Fast Supply Intervention 
Vessels (FSIV), patrol craft and 
passenger ferries.

Penguin Ferry Services operates 
modern high-speed ferries that serve 
as a vital sea link between Singapore 
and the Indonesian Riau Islands, and 
is today the ferry operator of choice 
among Singapore’s corporate and 
government clients.

Pelican Offshore Services is an 
established owner-operator of a diverse 
fl eet of offshore support vessels that 
service oil companies and offshore 
contractors around the world.

Our integrated services approach has 
fuelled our growth and resilience, 
enabling us to capture new 
opportunities within our core capabilities 
that will bring greater value to our 
employees, shareholders and clients.





Our journey is one of evolution as we 
believe that continual adaptation of 
one’s capabilities is the key to thriving 
in today’s business environment.

In the 1980s, we saw the potential for 
the expansion of our ferry services in 
the Riau Islands, and we grew our fl eet 
and improved both our economies of 
scale as well as our rate of return. 

In the 1990s, we anticipated the growth 
potential of the offshore services 
sector, and moved into crewboats and 
Fast Supply Intervention Vessels (FSIV). 

We also ventured into shipbuilding 
and repair to meet our own fl eet 
requirements. 

In the past decade, we have grown our 
own shipbuilding and ship operating 
expertise and expanded the capacity of 
our yards to become a truly integrated 
offshore and marine service group, 
specialising in high-speed aluminium 
vessels. 

Our success was built on vision and 
selfl ess dedication – as exemplifi ed by 
our Founder Mr. Heng Kheng Seng. 

We will continue to muster  the 
collective efforts of our people, each 
of whom we value - regardless of 
rank, gender, age, race or nationality. 
Our strength lies in achieving unity in 
the midst of diversity, and this family-
style culture continues to nurture and 
motivate our people to greater levels 
of achievement.

We are counting on our strong base 
of talents and assets to take Penguin 
to even greater heights.

FOCUSED ON 
OUR COMBINED  
CAPABILITIES
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CORPORATE
PROFILE

Founded in 1972 as one of Singapore’s 
fi rst local ferry operators, Penguin is 
today an integrated global marine and 
offshore services group, specialising 
in the construction, operation 
and management of high-speed 
commercial vessels.

With shipyards in Singapore and 
the Indonesian island of Batam, we 
build and repair a variety of vessels 
– including crewboats, Fast Supply 
Intervention Vessels (FSIV) and 
passenger ferries - for our own fl eet 
and for third-party ship owners.

We operate a fl eet of 62 workboats, 
offshore support vessels and 
passenger ferries through our 
operating units: Pelican Offshore 
Services, Penguin Ferry Services, 
Soon Tian Oon, Vista Marine Services 
and Penguin Marine Boats Services. 
Backed by more than three decades 
of experience in ferry operations, we 
also manage vessels on behalf of other 
ferry owners.

Through the combined efforts of 
Pelican Offshore Services and Penguin 
Shipyard International, we have 
developed the “Penguin FLEX” series 
of crewboats for ship owners operating 
in Southeast Asia, West Africa and the 
Middle East.

Our core market is Southeast Asia 
and our key overseas markets are the 
Middle East and West Africa. We have 
a broad and diversifi ed base of clients 
ranging from ship owners and oil 
companies to government agencies 
to retail customers.

Although the roots of our business lie 
in ferry operations, Penguin today is 
much more than just a ferry operator. 
We are a professionally-managed 
global marine and offshore services 
group with combined interests in 
shipbuilding, ship owning and 
ship operating.
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PENGUIN’S GOALS

“We aim to generate sustainable 
profi ts by leveraging on our 
integrated ‘Builder-Owner-
Operator’ status”

As one of only a few truly integrated 
marine and offshore services 
companies in Singapore, we leverage 
on our inter-company strengths in 
shipbuilding, ship owning and ship 
operating to generate sustainable 
profi ts from multiple revenue streams.

“We aim to be the preferred 
builder of high-speed offshore and 
commercial vessels in Asia”

At our two modern shipyards in 
Singapore and Indonesia, we build 
ships profi tably, safely and responsibly. 
By investing in modern equipment, 
processes and personnel, we aim to 
make Penguin Asia’s preferred builder 
of high-speed offshore and commercial 
vessels, such as crewboats, Fast 
Supply Intervention Vessels (FSIV), 
passenger ferries and patrol craft.

VISION 
AND GOALS

“We aim to be the premier 
owner-operator of offshore 
high-speed vessels”

Pelican Offshore Services is 
an established owner-operator 
of crewboats and Fast Supply 
Intervention Vessels (FSIV), and 
a well-known brand name among 
oil companies and offshore 
contractors in Southeast Asia.

Recently, Pelican also became an 
owner-operator of Anchor Handling 
Tug/Supply vessels (AHTS).

Working closely with Penguin 
Shipyard International, Pelican is 
developing a new generation of FSIV 
for our own fl eet and for third-party 
ship owners.

“We aim to leverage on our 
experience in operating high-speed 
passenger ferries to provide world-
class management services to other 
ferry owners”

Penguin Ferry Services operates a fl eet 
of ferries that are on time charter and 
ticketing runs in the region. We operate 
our ferries responsibly and we abide 
by international Health, Safety and 
Environmental standards.

Backed by an operating experience 
that spans more than three decades, 
Penguin aims to provide superior ship 
management services to ferry owners 
around the world.

PENGUIN’S VISION

We aim to be a world-class integrated marine and offshore services company that provides 
fulfi lling employment to our staff and delivers sustainable profi ts to our shareholders.  
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CORPORATE
STRUCTURE
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AT A GLANCE
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SEGMENTAL OVERVIEW AND HIGHLIGHTS

OVERVIEW

SHIPBUILDING 
AND REPAIR

• Operated through Penguin Shipyard International (PSI)
• Builds and repairs high-speed aluminum and steel commercial vessels such as FSIV, 

crewboats, ferries and utility boats
• Operates a 12,000-sqm shipyard in Singapore, and a 45,000-sqm shipyard in Batam 
• Has built more than 50 vessels to date 

FERRY OPERATIONS & OFFSHORE CHARTERS

• FERRY OPERATIONS • Operated through Penguin Ferry Services (PFS): 
• Operates a fl eet of ferries that are on project charters and ticketing runs in the region, 

transporting close to 10,000 passengers a day on average
• Penguin Marine Boats Services L.L.C. (PMBS) manages 10 Waterbuses owned by the 

Road and Transport Authority in Dubai and operates 20 workboats in the Arabian Gulf

• OFFSHORE CHARTERS • Operated through Pelican Offshore Services (POS)
• Owns and operates a fl eet of two AHTS and three FSIVs on time charters in Southeast 

Asia and the Middle East
• Worked closely with PSI to develop a successful in-house crewboat design under the 

“Penguin FLEX” series

GROUP FINANCIAL  HIGHLIGHTS
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47.2%*

47.5%*

Net Assets per 
Share (SGD cents) 
CAGR 16%
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* The balance of 5.3% is made up of revenue from non-core businesses.

SEGMENT HIGHLIGHTS IN FY2009 FY09 REVENUE CONTRIBUTION SEGMENTAL BREAKDOWN

• Increase in shipbuilding revenue with the 
sale of one Penguin “FLEX-36” crewboat, 
and progressive revenue recognition from the 
construction of three FSIVs and two Service 
Standby Rescue Vessels (SSRV), all of which are 
targeted for delivery in 2010

• Increase in revenue from charter income from 
government and corporate clients, partially offset 
by a reduction in passenger loads from ticketing runs 

• Took delivery of a pair of newbuild 200-pax 
Catamarans that are currently deployed 
around Singapore and Batam

• Total fl eet size grew to 62 (from 49 in FY08) 
with the acquisition of additional shares in 
Dubai-based joint venture, Penguin Marine 
Boats Service L.L.C. (PMBS)

• Decrease in Offshore Charter revenue due to lower 
utilisation rates and reduced dayrates, amidst a 
general decline in offshore oil and gas exploration, 
development and production activities
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CORPORATE 
MILESTONES

1972

Mr. Heng Kheng Seng sets up sole 
proprietorship to operate two wooden 
ferries between Singapore and its 
offshore islands

2008

Penguin changes name to “Penguin 
International” to more accurately refl ect 
its status as an integrated marine and 
offshore services provider

Penguin Shipyard signs fi rst shipbuilding 
contract with a West African ship owner

2009

Penguin raises S$6.1 million in net 
proceeds via an oversubscribed 
Rights Issue

Penguin Shipyard completes the fi rst of 
three prototype steel FSIV for the Abu 
Dhabi National Oil Company

Penguin Ferry Services takes delivery of 
two new 200-pax Catamaran ferries

1976

Penguin Boat Services is formed 
to own and operate a fl eet of eight 
passenger ferries

1993

Penguin acquires fi rst shipyard in 
Singapore to service its own fl eet

1995

Penguin builds its fi rst aluminium vessel

1997

Penguin Boat International goes public 
on the Singapore Stock Exchange

Pelican Offshore Services is formed to 
own and operate a fl eet of crewboats 
and Fast Supply Intervention 
Vessels (FSIV)

Penguin builds fi rst FSIV for Pelican

1998

Penguin commissions new shipyard 
in Singapore with a 500 metric ton 
straddle carrier

2002

Penguin Shipyard delivers two 50-metre 
FSIV, each with a top speed of 32 knots, 
the largest and fastest ever built in 
Southeast Asia

2004

Penguin acquires shipyard in 
Batam, Indonesia

2006

Pelican Offshore Services acquires 
its fi rst Anchor Handling Tug/ 
Supply Vessel

Penguin Shipyard delivers its fi rst 
“FLEX-36” crewboat

2007

Pelican Offshore Services signs 
contract to build three prototype steel 
FSIV for the Abu Dhabi National Oil 
Company, in partnership with 
Penguin Shipyard

Penguin signs fi rst third-party ferry 
management and operations contract 
in the Middle East with Dubai’s Roads 
and Transport Authority



DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

Penguin continued to thrive during an 
exceptionally challenging year, and 
its resilience, in part, is testament to 
the fi rm foundation that its former 
Chairman Mr. Heng Kheng Seng has 
laid for the past 38 years as Founder 
of the Group.  

As I take over as Chairman, I wish to 
record my appreciation to Mr. Heng for 
his vision and success in transforming 
Penguin into a public-listed integrated 
marine and offshore services group.  
As with any organisation, I am sure 
issues may abound, but I believe that 
we would be able to resolve them with 
the concerted efforts of the directors, 
management and staff.

Being a long-time industry player, I’ve 
always appreciated Penguin’s 
fundamentals and potential for growth.  
I fi rst invested in Penguin in 2005 and 
presently, I am now a major shareholder.  

I am grateful for the opportunity to be 
the Group’s Chairman, and I assure 
you that I will not take this added 
responsibility fl ippantly, but will do 
my utmost to steer Penguin to higher 
levels of achievement. 

Moving ahead, Penguin will continue 
to build on its core strengths of being 
an integrated ship builder, owner 
and operator. We were able to pull 
through the recent economic crisis 
mainly because we chose to focus on 
our core shipbuilding and chartering 
activities without depending on any 
vessel sales.  This underscores the 
Group’s resilience.   

Indeed, our strategic focus on being 
an integrated player will continue to 
be our engine of growth while we 
are anchored on maintaining a culture 
of teamwork that helps to elevate 
productivity, service quality and 
reliability.  Our focus will enable us to 
be the best in our fi eld as we seek to 
expand our geographical infl uence, our 
capacity and capabilities.

Together with my fellow directors on 
the Board, we are mindful that the 
operating environment would continue 
to be challenging, requiring us to be 
vigilant and prudent.  We will continue 
to look to our management and staff 
for their support and commitment, 
as we, the Penguin family, reach for 
greater heights.  

With God’s grace and everyone’s 
support, I look forward to another 
exciting year ahead!

CHAIRMAN’S
MESSAGE 

“OUR FOCUS ON BEING AN INTEGRATED 
PLAYER WILL CONTINUE TO BE OUR ENGINE 
OF GROWTH WHILE WE ARE ANCHORED ON 
A CULTURE OF TEAMWORK.”

JEFFREY HING YIH PEIR
Chairman
(with effect from 24 February 2010)
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

The proverbial “interesting times” that 
we were plunged into in 2009 appear 
to have given way to a new dawn 
marked by cautious growth in the global 
shipping and shipbuilding sectors.

After more than a year of economic 
ennui, banks are fi nally starting to 
relax their tight fi sts of credit, as 
business owners dust off their capital 
expenditure plans and consumers 
return to their old habits of spending 
more on wants than needs.

The “feel good” factor is back in 
town. But for the marine and offshore 
industry, the ebullience is somewhat 
tempered by certain realities of the 
business. Overcapacity remains 
a major challenge - particularly for 
certain classes of offshore support 
vessels - and utilisation rates are still 
restrained. While banks are more 
willing to fi nance ship owners, they are 
still reluctant to accept reasonable risk, 
hence fi nancing remains costly and 
cumbersome. Alas, reality takes time 
to catch up with sentiment.

Nevertheless, we do have reason to 
be optimistic about the future based 
on how we lived out the past. In 
FY2009, Penguin posted a net profi t 
of $7.3 million on revenue of $114.0 
million and ended the year with $25.3 
million in cash. Most of the profi t 
was generated by shipbuilding and 
chartering of ferries, Fast Supply 

Intervention Vessels (FSIV) and Anchor 
Handling Tug/Supply vessels (AHTS).

More signifi cantly, our FY2009 profi t 
was earned in the absence of any 
signifi cant contribution from vessel 
sales. Last year’s other operating 
income, typically consisting of vessel 
sales, was $4.8 million, compared with 
$10.3 million in FY2008. Taken in this 
context, the drop in total net profi t 
from $8.8 million in FY2008 to $7.3 
million in FY2009 is understandable. 

Our “survival and thrive” strategy, 
which forms part of our overall growth 
strategy, is to focus on our core 
shipbuilding and chartering activities, 
while seeking to maximise our 
$100 million-plus fi xed asset base – 
comprising mostly 62 vessels and two 
shipyards - and expand sensibly within 
our core competencies. Indeed, our 
improved quality of earnings in FY2009 
underscores our strength in focus. 

A key initiative from maximising 
our assets is to focus on securing 
more charters for our fl eet of 33 
high-speed passenger ferries versus 
traditional ticketing runs to the Riau 
Islands – Batam, Bintan and Karimun. 
Our efforts paid off in FY2009 with 
an unprecedented two-thirds of our 
ferries on charter to government and 
corporate clients. We are now keeping 
close tabs on possible new demand 
arising from the two Integrated 
Resorts in Singapore.

Meanwhile, we will continue to 
approach debt cautiously and maintain 
a healthy cash fl ow. At the end of 
FY2009, we had $25.3 million in 
cash – roughly 25% of our market 
capitalisation - and a low gearing ratio 
of 14%. A strong balance sheet not 
only ensures survival, it also enables 
us to capitalise on sensible expansion 
and acquisitions within our 
core competencies.

On the expansion front, we plan to 
refl eet our offshore vessels, which 
have been sold down to three FSIV and 
two AHTS. Over the last three years, 
we sold three of our own FSIV in a 
booming market.  We also bought two 
AHTS, which are now on long-term 
charter. The time is now ripe for us to 
build new offshore vessels at our own 
shipyards for our own requirements, 
as the market reality starts to catch up 
with sentiment.

Currently, all our ferries are operating in 
Singapore and the Middle East, while 
our offshore vessels are deployed 
around Southeast Asia and the Middle 
East. Away from home, the Middle 
East is by far the most signifi cant 
growth market for Penguin. 

It was almost three years ago when 
we secured our fi rst “toehold” in the 
Middle East via a long-term marine 
services contract with Dubai’s Roads 
and Transport Authority. Since then, we 
have sent one of our AHTS to Saudi 
Arabia on a long-term charter, signed 

MANAGING 
DIRECTOR’S MESSAGE 

“IN FY2009, PENGUIN POSTED A NET PROFIT OF 
$7.3 MILLION ON REVENUE OF $114.0 MILLION
AND ENDED THE YEAR WITH $25.3 MILLION IN CASH.”



US$48 million worth of shipbuilding 
contracts with the Abu Dhabi National 
Oil Company and built up a fl eet of 20 
workboats in and around Dubai.

Late last year, we took the additional 
step of turning our Dubai joint venture 
into a fully fl edged subsidiary by 
acquiring additional shares from a local 
partner to give us a 75% interest.

While the news media tend to focus 
only on the darker side of Dubai’s 
economic woes, the reality is not as 
dire. If anything, the crisis has made 
Dubai a more attractive place to invest 
and conduct business. Roads are 
less congested, employees are less 
demanding, the cost of living has 
come down and even government 
offi cials are friendlier.

Furthermore, Dubai is one of seven 
closely-linked emirates (or kingdoms) 
in the United Arab Emirates, which 
are in turn part of the larger Arabian 
Gulf community, which includes Saudi 
Arabia, Kuwait, Bahrain, Qatar and 
Oman. Our Dubai-based subsidiary, 
for example, is operating ferries in 
Saudi Arabia, Kuwait and Abu Dhabi. 
Sentiment in Dubai, as perpetuated by 
the mass media, tends to overshadow 
reality in the region.

Our ability to survive and thrive in 
diffi cult times is exemplifi ed by our 
Founder Mr. Heng Kheng Seng, who 
retired at the age of 60 as Chairman 
in February 2010 after serving the 
company for 38 years. We are grateful 
to Mr. Heng for laying the foundations 
of growth and for bringing in a new 
management team to carry on 
his legacy.

Mr. Heng’s own life story is truly a 
journey of resilience. From a small 
boat rental business in 1972, he has 
overcome numerous challenges to 
build Penguin into the integrated 
marine and offshore services group 
that you see before you today.

The Board of Penguin extends its 
heartfelt gratitude and appreciation to 
Mr. Heng for his years of dedication 
and personal sacrifi ce.

At the same time, the Board would 
like to welcome Mr. Jeffrey Hing as 
Penguin’s new Chairman. Mr. Hing, 
54, is an experienced offshore ship 
owner and investor with an accounting 
background. As Penguin’s single 
largest shareholder, he is also an 
ardent believer in the Group and 
its prospects.

JAMES THAM
Managing Director

By focusing on our core strengths 
and remaining rooted in reality, I am 
confi dent that Penguin will grow 
stronger and soar higher in 
coming years.
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3.2.1.

BOARD OF  
DIRECTORS

1. MR. JEFFREY HING YIH PEIR
Chairman

Mr. Hing was appointed Chairman 
of Penguin on 24 February 2010 and 
was last re-elected in April 2009. 
As Chairman, he is responsible for 
managing the quality, quantity and 
timeliness of the information fl ow 
between Management and the Board, 
as well as ensuring compliance with 
Penguin’s guidelines on corporate 
governance.

Mr. Hing is a substantial shareholder in 
Penguin and previously served as Non-
Executive Director from February 2009.  

Mr. Hing has more than 30 years’ 
experience in the marine and offshore 
industry, in a variety of roles ranging 
from fi nance to business development. 
He is the founder and managing 
director of Trinity Offshore Pte. Ltd., 
a Singapore-based owner-operator of 
offshore support/utility vessels. 

As an experienced entrepreneur in the 
marine and offshore industry, Mr. Hing 
brings to Penguin his trading acumen 
and his global network of industry 
contacts.

An accountant by training, Mr. Hing has 
served in various roles as an auditor, 
accountant, senior executive and a 
director of diversifi ed corporations.

Mr. Tham was appointed Managing 
Director on 1 October 2008 and was 
last re-elected in April 2009. He was 
previously the Chief Operating Offi cer 
and an Executive Director from August 
2008, responsible for strategic business 
development, focusing on key overseas 
markets, mergers and acquisitions, as 
well as investor relations.

Mr. Tham joined Penguin in November 
2006 as its Business Development 
Director.

Prior to joining Penguin, Mr. Tham 
served in a variety of roles in the 
offshore oil and gas industry. He 
previously worked as a Petroleum 
Correspondent with Upstream, the 
international oil and gas newspaper; a 
Business Development Manager with 
New York-based Seacor Holdings Inc.; 
and later served as a Corporate Advisor 
to the group, as well as to several 
independent petroleum exploration 
companies in the region.

Mr. Tham holds a Bachelor of Science 
Degree in Journalism and a Bachelor of 
Business Administration Degree.

3. MS. JOANNA TUNG MAY FONG
Finance and Administration Director

Ms. Tung was appointed Finance and 
Administration Director in May 2008 
and last re-elected in April 2009, where 
she is responsible for the Group’s 
accounting and fi nance, management 
information system and human 
resources functions.

Ms. Tung joined the Group in 2000 
as an Accountant, and was promoted 
to Group Finance Controller in 
2006, and subsequently fi nance and 
Administration Director in 2008. Her 
duties and responsibilities have, 
over the years, been expanded to 
include management of the Penguin’s 
accounting and fi nance activities, as 
well as corporate reporting and related 
Group administration.

Prior to joining the Group, she served 
as an accountant in a broad range of 
industries, including electronics and 
transportation. She was also a regional 
internal auditor at a major Japanese MNC.

Ms. Tung is a member of the Certifi ed 
Public Accountants of ICPAS Singapore 
and holds an ACCA professional 
qualifi cation.

2. MR. JAMES THAM TUCK CHOONG
Managing Director
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4. MR. ONG KIAN MIN
Independent Director

Mr. Ong was appointed to the Board in 
September 1997 and last re-elected in 
April 2008. He is Chairman of the 
Audit Committee, a position he 
has held since October 1997, and a 
member of the Remuneration and 
Nominating Committees.

Mr. Ong was called to the Bar of 
England and Wales in 1998 and to the 
Singapore Bar the following year. In 
addition to practicing as a consultant 
with Drew & Napier LLC, a leading 
Singapore law fi rm, he is a Senior 
Advisor of Alpha Advisory Pte. Ltd. 
(a fi nancial and corporate advisory fi rm).

Currently, Mr. Ong also serves 
on the Board of several other 
Singapore-listed companies.

Mr. Ong was awarded the President’s 
Scholarship and Police Force 
Scholarship in 1979. He holds a 
Bachelor of Laws (Honours) external 
degree from the University of  London 
and a Bachelor of Science (Honours) 
degree from the Imperial College of 
Science and Technology in England. Mr. 
Ong has been a Member of Parliament 
of Singapore since January 1997.

5. MR. KOO AH SEANG
Independent Director

Mr. Koo was appointed to the Board 
in September 1997 and last re-elected 
in April 2009. He is Chairman of the 
Remuneration and a member of the 
Nominating and Audit Committees.

Mr. Koo is currently the Chief Executive 
Offi cer of China EnerSave Limited, a 
Catalist Sponsored renewable 
energy group. 

Mr. Koo graduated from the University 
of Auckland (New Zealand) with a 
Bachelor of Commerce degree. He is 
an FCPA member of the Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants 
of Singapore.

6. MR. WONG NGIAM JIH
Independent Director

Mr. Wong was appointed to the Board 
in May 2006 and last re-elected in 
April 2007. He is the Chairman of the 
Nominating Committee, a position 
he was appointed to on 15 August 
2008, and a member of the Audit and 
Remuneration Committees.  Mr. Wong 
is the General Manager (Finance) of 
Keppel Offshore & Marine Ltd and 
director of a number of companies in 
the Keppel Group, including Keppel 
Singmarine Pte. Ltd., Keppel Smit 
Towage Pte. Ltd., Keppel Philippines 
Marine, Inc., Keppel Cebu Shipyard, 
Inc. and Subic Shipyard & Engineering 
Inc. He has extensive experience of 
more than 30 years in fi nancial and 
accounting.

Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor of Business 
Administration degree from the National 
University of Singapore.

6.5.4.
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KEY 
EXECUTIVES  

1. CAPT. JOHN RICHARD PRICE
Chief Operating Offi cer

Capt. Price was appointed Chief 
Operating Offi cer of the Penguin Group 
on 1 October 2008 to oversee the 
management of the Group’s operations 
and commercial activities.

Capt. Price was previously the General 
Manager of Pelican Offshore Services 
Pte Ltd, a position he held since July 
2001. He was then responsible for 
the Group’s fl eet of offshore support 
vessels. A Master Mariner by training 
and a Manager by profession, Capt. 
Price brings to Penguin a wealth of 
experience spanning more than 30 
years in the offshore oil and 
gas industry. 

Since coming ashore in 1989, Capt. 
Price has held senior management 
positions in the United Kingdom, 
Vietnam, Indonesia and Singapore at 
major offshore services companies, 
with key commercial and operational 
responsibilities. Capt. Price holds a 
“Master Mariner Class 1” Certifi cate 
of Competency.

2. MR. ALFRED TAN CHIN WEI
Senior Advisor

Mr. Tan was appointed Senior Advisor of 
the Penguin Group in June 2009. With 
close to 40 years experience in a variety 
of marine industry roles, including senior 
management, project management, 
commercial management, marketing 
and business development. 

Mr. Tan advises the Group on all major 
shipbuilding and repair projects. He 
also heads up the Group’s centralised 
procurement teams.  

Mr. Tan has served in a myriad of roles in 
the marine industry, including: Managing 
Director of Marine Equator, Marketing 
Manager of President Marine, and 
General Manager of ASL Shipyard. 
His past projects included the 
construction of AHTS, tugboats, tankers 
and landing craft.

3.2.1.

3. MR. LAW CHWAN YAW
Group Financial Controller 

Mr. Law was appointed Group Financial 
Controller in November 2008, with 
responsibility over the Group’s fi nance 
and accounting functions. He joined 
Penguin as an Accountant in May 
2001, and was later promoted to Group 
Accountant in August 2006 and Group 
Finance Manager in July 2008, before 
being appointed to his current position.

Mr. Law has been a member of the 
Institute of Certifi ed Public Accountants 
of Singapore since 2007 and the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
since 2001. He graduated from the 
University of Malaya in 1996 with a 
Bachelor of Accounting degree.
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4. 5.

4. MR. HO KAI KAY
Human Resource Manager

Mr. Ho was appointed Human Resource 
Manager of the Penguin Group in August 
2008. He is responsible for managing 
the Group’s human resource activities, 
including recruitment and training, work 
pass administration, compensation and 
benefi ts, employee communication and 
policy formulation.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ho served 
as Human Resource and Administration 
Manager of Suntec Investment Pte. Ltd. 
for 15 years. 

Mr. Ho possesses a background in naval 
operations and holds a Graduate Diploma 
in Business Administration (1989) from 
the Singapore Institute of Management 
and a Diploma in Administrative 
Management (1987) from the Institute 
of Administrative Management.

5. MR. VINCENT KOH SOON GUAN 
Management Information 
Systems Manager

Mr. Koh was appointed Management 
Information Systems (MIS) Manager in 
December 2009, after having served 
in the Group’s MIS Department as a 
System Analyst for four years. 

Mr. Koh holds a Degree in Computing 
from Auston Institute of Management 
and Technology and a Diploma in 
Computer Information Systems from 
Singapore Polytechnic. 

He is responsible for implementing 
and maintaining a variety of software 
and hardware MIS solutions in support 
of the Group’s shipbuilding and repair, 
ship operating and ship management 
activities.
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EXECUTIVES  

8.7.6.

8. MR. S. JAMESON 
S/O SUPARMANIAM

General Manager
Pelican Offshore Services Pte Ltd

Mr. Jameson  was appointed General 
Manager of Pelican Offshore Services 
Pte Ltd in March 2010, nine months 
after joining Pelican as Deputy General 
Manager. Backed by more than two 
decades of marine and offshore 
operating experience, he runs the 
Group’s fl eet of offshore support 
vessels, including FSIVs and AHTS.

Prior to his appointment, Mr. Jameson 
worked in various managerial positions 
in the offshore marine industry, 
including Micyln Express Offshore, 
Vroon Offshore Services and Semco 
Salvage and Marine. His past roles 
included chartering, crewing, security, 
and HSE, with a working knowledge of 
ISO, ISM, BBS, SSE, JSA and HAZOB.

Mr. Jameson holds a Diploma in 
Shipping and Logistics Management 
from the Institute of Shipping 
Management and a Class 3 Foreign-
Going Deck Officer Certificate 
of Competency.

7. MR. SUN MUN YEW
General Manager
Penguin Ferry Services Pte Ltd

Mr. Sun was appointed General 
Manager of Penguin Ferry 
Services Pte Ltd in August 2008. 
He is responsible for the Group’s 
passenger ferry operations in 
Singapore and the Riau Islands. 

Mr. Sun was with Penguin Shipyard 
International Pte Ltd for almost 10 
years prior to his transfer to Penguin 
Ferry. He has extensive experience 
of more than 30 years in the 
marine transportation industry, 
with overseas postings in the 
Philippines and Indonesia. 

6. MR. PHILIP TAN KEOK TONG
General Manager
Penguin Shipyard International Pte Ltd

Mr. Tan was appointed General 
Manager of Penguin Shipyard 
International Pte Ltd in December 
2008, six months after joining Penguin 
as General Manager of Batam-based 
PT Kim Seah Shipyard Indonesia. 

Mr. Tan runs the Group’s shipyards 
in Singapore and Batam, Indonesia, 
with responsibility over shipbuilding 
and ship repair projects for internal 
and third party customers. Mr. Tan 
has close to 30 years of working 
experience in the marine and offshore 
shipbuilding and ship repair industry, 
including more than a decade in 
Batam. 

Prior to joining Penguin, he was the 
Assistant General Manager of Labroy 
Shipbuilding & Engineering Pte. Ltd. 
in Batam. During his career, Mr. Tan 
has been responsible for new building 
order books amounting to more 
than $200 million across a myriad of 
vessels, including AHTS, crewboats, 
chemical tankers, cable laying barges 
and landing craft.
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9. MR. GEORGE LEE CHYE HOCK
General Manager
Vista Marine Services Pte Ltd

Mr. Lee joined the Penguin Group 
in May 2008 to head up the Group’s 
newly formed tug-and-barge unit, Vista 
Marine Services Pte Ltd. As General 
Manager, Mr. Lee is responsible for 
the construction, acquisition and 
operation of Penguin’s fl eet of tugs 
and barges to cater to internal and 
third party requirements. 

Prior to joining Penguin, Mr. Lee was 
the Operations Manager of Gems 
Marine Pte. Ltd., a tug-and-barge 
owner operator. During his 30-year 
career, Mr. Lee has served in a variety 
of technical and supervisory roles in 
the offshore and marine industry.

10. MR. THOMAS CHUNG
General Manager
Soon Tian Oon Pte Ltd

Mr. Chung was appointed General 
Manager of Soon Tian Oon Pte Ltd, the 
Group’s bunkering arm, in November 
2006, with responsibility over its 
management. He joined Penguin in 
June 2000 as Operations Manager 
of Penguin Speed Cargo Pte Ltd, 
where he was responsible for sea 
cargo operations between Singapore 
and Batam. 

Prior to joining Penguin, he served as 
Station Manager in charge of air cargo 
operations between Seletar Airport, 
Singapore and Hang Nadim Airport, 
Batam in SMAC Air Services Pte Ltd 
for three years, and was the boarding 
offi cer of a major local shipping 
company for more than six years. 
Mr. Chung was appointed to the Board 
of Soon Tian Oon Pte Ltd in April 2006.

9. 10.
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HIGHLIGHTS OF FY2009
• Delivering quality earnings: 

Despite the tough business 
environment in FY2009, we 
still managed to deliver another 
consecutive year of profi tability. 
More signifi cantly, our latest 
full-year profi t arose mostly from 
our core operations rather than 
fl eet vessel sales. Last year’s 
other operating income, typically 
consisting of vessel sales, was 
$4.8 million, compared with $10.3 
million in FY2008.

• Strong charter earnings: 
Total charter revenue – arising 
mostly from ferry operations – rose 
to $53.8 million in FY2009, versus 
$48.5 million a year earlier, and 
accounted for 47% of FY2009 
Group revenue. For our ferries, an 
increased focus on charters over 
ticketing produced more profi t. In 
FY2009, about two-thirds of our 
fl eet of 33 ferries in Southeast Asia 
were chartered to government and 
corporate clients. The remaining 
ferries were deployed on ticketing 
runs between Singapore and the 
Indonesian islands of Batam, Bintan 
and Karimun – which is a highly 
competitive market.

• Reduced fl eet vessel sales: 
In FY2009, we sold four vessels 
from our fl eet, aged 11 years or 
more and worth less than $500,000 
in total. This compares with 13 
vessels sold and one scrapped in 
FY2008, which generated some 
$22 million in net proceeds.

• Maintaining a healthy 
balance sheet: 
We ended 31 December 2009 with 
$25.3 million in cash and a gearing 
ratio of 14%.

• Focusing on our core strengths: 
As part of our “Strength in Focus” 
strategy, our growth and expansion 
plans are centred on our core 
shipbuilding, ship owning and ship 
operating businesses.

• Growth in new markets: 
The Middle East and West Africa 
continue to contribute a greater 
share of Group revenue as our new 
growth markets, accounting for 
47.5% and 6.6% respectively of 
FY2009 revenue, versus 17.8% and 
13.2% respectively in FY2008. In 
FY2009, we acquired an absolute 
controlling interest in our Middle 
East joint venture, which operates 
20 workboats in and around the 
United Arab Emirates.

WE HAVE 
DELIVERED 
ANOTHER 
CONSECUTIVE YEAR 
OF PROFITABILITY, 
ARISING MOSTLY 
FROM OUR CORE 
OPERATIONS.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Penguin is an integrated and 
international marine and offshore 
services group, with complementary 
interests in shipbuilding, ship 
owning and ship operating. Our 
main business activities are: Ferry 
Operations, Offshore Charters, as well 
as Shipbuilding and Repair. Our key 
overseas growth market is the 
Middle East.

Over the last 18 months, the Group 
carried out a restructuring program that 
was designed to focus on its inherent 
strengths and maximise its base of 
shipping and shipbuilding assets. 
In 2009, we completed the sale of 
our freight forwarding subsidiary 
Penguin Speed Cargo Pte. Ltd., along 
with a pair of vintage ferries, to an 
Indonesian buyer. We also relocated 
our Management Offi ce from PSA 
Vista back to our own shipyard in Tuas, 
where most of our main business units 
are based. To further rationalise costs 
and consolidate our base, we began 
construction of a new Waterfront 
Offi ce and Workshop in our yard to 
house staff and equipment from a 
neighbouring leased building.
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FERRY OPERATIONS
The roots of Penguin’s ferry operations 
date back to the company’s inception 
in 1972. Through Penguin Ferry 
Services (PFS), the Group operates 
a fl eet of ferries that are employed 
on project charters and ticketing runs 
in the region, transporting close to 
10,000 passengers a day on average.

In mid-2009, Penguin took delivery 
of a pair of new 200-pax Catamarans 
that are currently deployed around 
Singapore and Batam. In addition, the 
ship management department in PFS 
was spun off into a separate business 
unit, Penguin Ship Management 
(PSM). The move enables PFS to 
focus on commercial activities and 
terminal operations, while “back-
end” operations such as repair and 
maintenance, crewing and safety 
management are being handled 
by PSM.

Over in the Middle East, a Penguin-
led joint venture in Dubai (which later 
became a subsidiary through additional 
investment) manages 10 Waterbuses 
owned by the Roads and Transport 
Authority (RTA) and operates 20 
workboats in the Arabian Gulf.

OFFSHORE CHARTERS
Penguin also owns and operates 
a fl eet of offshore support vessels 
under Pelican Offshore Services, 
comprising two Anchor Handling Tug/
Supply vessels (AHTS) and three 
Fast Supply Intervention Vessels 
(FSIV). These vessels operate on time 
charters in Southeast Asia and the 
Middle East to support offshore oil 
and gas exploration, development and 
production activities.

Pelican is a well-known brand in 
the Southeast Asian oil patch. The 
company took delivery of its fi rst 46-
metre FSIV from Penguin’s shipbuilding 
arm in 1997 and became one of the 
fi rst offshore operators in Southeast 
Asia to operate true Gulf of Mexico-
style FSIV in the region.

Through the years, Pelican has 
worked closely with Penguin Shipyard 
International to develop a successful 
in-house crewboat design under the 
“Penguin FLEX” series that other 
crewboat operators have signed on 
to build.

SHIPBUILDING AND REPAIR
Through Penguin Shipyard 
International, the Group builds and 
repairs aluminum and steel vessels, 
such as crewboats, Fast Supply 
Intervention Vessels (FSIV), ferries 
and utility boats. Penguin Shipyard 
operates a 12,000-square metre 
shipyard in Singapore with a 500-
metric ton straddle carrier and a 
45,000-square metre shipyard on the 
Indonesian island of Batam with a 250-
metric ton straddle carrier. 

Since 1995, Penguin Shipyard has built 
more than 50 vessels for the Group’s 
own requirements and for third-party 
ship owners. 

MIDDLE EAST
Penguin is committed to growth 
and expansion in the Middle East. In 
November 2009, we turned our Dubai-
based joint venture, Penguin Marine 
Boats Services L.L.C. (PMBS), into 
a full fl edged subsidiary by acquiring 
additional shares from a local partner 
to give us a 75% interest. PMBS is 
currently managing 10 Waterbuses 
owned by Dubai’s Roads and Transport 
Authority and operating an additional 
20 workboats in the Arabian Gulf.

Meanwhile, one of our AHTS, “Pelican 
Quest”, is into the third year of a long-
term charter in Saudi Arabia.

On the shipbuilding front, we 
completed the fi rst of three prototype 
steel FSIV in December 2009 for the 
Abu Dhabi National Oil Company. 
Penguin is also building two units 
of Safety Standby Rescue Vessels 
(SSRVs) for the same client.
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FY2009 FINANCIAL REVIEW

 Income Statements

Revenue: Increased by $15.6 million 
due to higher contribution from 
shipbuilding and charter revenue, 
partially offset by a decrease in 
bunkering sales.

2009 2008 Change

S$’000 S$’000 %

Revenue 113,994 98,395 15.9 

Cost of sales (82,524) (68,976) 19.6

Gross profi t: Increased by $2.1 million 
in line with revenue growth.

Gross profi t  31,470  29,419 7.0 

Other operating income 4,790 10,286 (53.4)

Marketing and distribution
 costs

(665) (609) 9.2 

Administrative expenses (14,262) (15,475) (7.8)
Other operating expenses (11,486) (11,685) (1.7)

Profi t before tax: Decreased by $2.8 
million due mainly to a fall in Other 
Operating Income and share of loss 
in joint venture, Penguin Marine Boats 
Services L.L.C. (PMBS). 

Other operating income decreased by 
$5.5 million due mainly to signfi cantly 
lesser contribution from vessel sales.

Finance cost (558) (1,032) (45.9)
Interest income 57 441 (87.1)

Profi t from operations  9,346  11,345 (17.6)

Share of results of joint 
venture

 (791)  2 N.M.

Profi t before taxation 8,555 11,347 (24.6)

Income tax expense: Decreased by 
$1.3 million due mainly to lower 
operating profi t.

Tax expense (1,247) (2,505) (50.2)

Profi t for the year  7,308  8,842 (17.3)

Profi t attribuable to equity holders 
of the Company: Decreased by $1.5 
million in line with the lower operating 
profi t and profi t before tax.

Attributable to:
Equity holders of 
the Company

 7,379  8,842 (16.5)

Minority interests  (71)  –   N.M.
 7,308  8,842 (17.3)
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FY2009 FINANCIAL REVIEW 

Profi t and Loss Statement
For the 12 months ended 31 
December 2009, Penguin’s revenue 
rose 15.9% year-on-year to $114.0 
million, while profi t from operations fell 
17.6% over the same period to $9.3 
million. The Group’s revenue growth 
was fuelled by higher shipbuilding and 
charter revenue, and partially offset by 
a decrease in bunkering sales.

Penguin’s net profi t attributable to 
shareholders during the year was 
$7.3 million, which arose mostly from 
the Group’s core operating activities 
rather than fl eet vessel sales.

In FY2009, other operating income, 
typically consisting of vessel sales, 
was $4.8 million, compared with $10.3 
million in FY2008. 

Balance Sheet
On the balance sheet front, Penguin 
ended FY2009 with $25.3 million in 
cash and a gearing ratio of 14%. Total 
borrowings in FY2009 fell 8.0% year-
on-year to $17.3 million. Over the same 
period, Penguin’s net asset value per 
share fell from 21.53 cents to 
19.15 cents.

The Group increased its capital base in 
January 2009 with a rights issue that 
raised $6.1 million in net proceeds.

SEGMENT REVIEW
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Ferry Operations

Revenue from Penguin Ferry Services’ 
(PFS) operations – comprising both 
chartering and ticketing activities - 
increased 70.4% or $11.9 million to 
$28.8 million in FY2009, from $16.9 
million a year ago, thanks to a rise 
in charter income from government 
and corporate clients. The increase 
was partially offset by a reduction in 
passenger loads arising from ticketing 
runs between Singapore and Batam. 
Competition remains intense in the 
Riau Islands ferry ticketing market.

In mid-2009, Penguin took delivery of 
a pair of newbuild 200-pax Catamarans 
that are currently deployed around 
Singapore and Batam, while selling 
off three laid-up vintage ferries. 
In addition, the ship management 
department in PFS was spun off into 
a separate business unit, Penguin 
Ship Management (PSM). The move 
enables PFS to focus on commercial 
activities and terminal operations, 
while “back-end” operations such as 
repair and maintenance, crewing and 
safety management are being handled 
by PSM.

Over in the Middle East, our ongoing 
ship management contract with 
Dubai’s Roads and Transport Authority 
(RTA) is continuing to showcase 
Penguin’s expertise in managing 
complex ferry operations involving 
ticketing, crewing, safety, training, 
route planning, as well as repair and 
maintenance. Under an estimated 
$2 million-a-year contract, Penguin 
operates a fl eet of 10 RTA waterbuses 
along the Dubai Creek.

Offshore Charters

Revenue from Offshore Charters 
generated by Pelican Offshore Services 
fell 6.9% year-on-year in FY2009 to 
$16.3 million, due to lower utilisation 
rates and reduced dayrates amidst 
a general decline in offshore oil and 
gas exploration, development and 
production activities.

In Vietnam, our AHTS, “Pelican 28”, 
secured a two-year charter extension in 
late 2009 after successfully completing 
a three-year charter in the South 
China Sea; while our other AHTS, 
“Pelican Quest”, completed her second 
anniversary charter over in Saudi Arabia.
Pelican’s remaining offshore fl eet, 
comprising three FSIVs, remained on 
charter around Asia for the most part 

of FY2009. The company also sold off 
one 1970s-built crewboat over the 
same period.
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Ferry and Charter Services

Shipbuilding and Repair

Penguin’s Shipbuilding and Repair 
operations generated revenue of 
$54.1 million in FY2009, up 24.9% 
from the previous year. This was due 
largely to the progressive recognition 
of shipbuilding revenue from the 
construction of three FSIV and two 
SSRV contracted by the Abu Dhabi 
National Oil Company.

Over the same period, revenue from 
third-party repair dropped 41.7% to 
$832,000 in FY2009. There were no 
new shipbuilding orders in FY2009. 
All the ADNOC vessels are expected 
to be delivered in 2010.

Meanwhile, Penguin Shipyard 
International sold one unit of its 
“FLEX-36” series of 36-metre offshore 
crewboats in FY2009 and is continuing 
with its series-construction in 
anticipation of improved demand
in FY2010.
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Balance Sheet

Total assets: Increased by $21.1 million. 
Rise in property, plant and equipment, 
along with decrease in amount due 
from a joint venture company (non-
trade), due to the acquisition of 
additional 26% of total number of 
issued shares of the joint venture 
company, making it a 75%-owned 
subsidiary of the Group. Increase in 
inventories was due mainly to work-in-
progress of vessels under construction. 
Increase in work-in-progress in excess 
of related billings was due mainly to 
higher work-in-progress for  shipbuilding 
projects. Decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents due to capital expenditure 
on fl eet expansion.

As at 
31 Dec 2009

S$’000

As at 
31 Dec 2008

S$’000

Change
%

TOTAL ASSETS  195,714 174,624 12.1

Property, plant and 
equipment

 103,830  75,789 37.0 

Inventories  10,456  4,821 116.9 

Work-in-progress in excess 
of related billings

 19,098  6,407 198.1 

Trade receivables  15,678  15,040 4.2 

Other receivables 
and deposits

 20,256  21,231 (4.6)

Due from joint venture 
company (non-trade)

 –   15,585 (100.0)

Cash and cash equivalents  25,301  33,910 (25.4)

Total liabilities: Increased by $8.4 
million largely due to higher trade 
payables and other payables and 
accruals. These was due mainly to an 
increase in shipbuilding activities.  

TOTAL LIABILITIES
 

69,234 
 

60,865 13.8

Shareholders’ funds: Increased by 
$12.7 million from the issuance of 
132,103,610 new shares arising from a 
Rights Issue exercise in January 2009 
that raised $6.1 million in net proceeds.

Equity attributable to 
equity holders of 
the Company

126,480 113,759 11.2
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

In FY2009, the Group carried out a 
capital expenditure programme that 
saw $11 million being invested in a 
pair of 200-pax catamarans and a 
tug boat delivered in mid 2009, the 
construction of a new Waterfront 
Offi ce and Workshop and the ongoing 
development of Penguin’s Batam 
shipyard.

FY08FY06 FY09FY07

Capital Expenditure (S$’m)
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE & 
FINANCIAL RESOURCES 

Penguin maintains a strong balance 
sheet and an effi cient capital structure 
to maximise return for shareholders. 
The Group has suffi cient cash and 
cash equivalents, as well as an 
adequate buffer of standby credit 
facilities to help it weather the current 
credit crunch. Funding of working 
capital requirements and capital 
expenditure is through a mix of short-
term money market borrowings and 
long-term loans. As at 31 December 
2009, the Group has total borrowings 
amounting to $17.3 million, cash 
holding of $25.3 million and a gearing 
of 14%. 
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BORROWINGS

2009 2008

S$’000 S$’000

Due within one year:

Term loans (secured) 9,905 9,816

Finance lease liabilities (secured) 20 14

9,925 9,830

Due after one year:

Term loans (secured)  7,376  8,984

Finance lease liabilities (secured) 12 10

7,388 8,994

Total borrowings 17,313 18,824

Gearing ratio 0.14 0.17

The Group’s total borrowing decreased 
from $18.8 million in FY2008 to $17.3 
million in FY2009. The decrease was 
due mainly to repayment of bank loans 
and fi nance lease obligation. As a result, 
the Group’s gearing dropped from 17% 
in FY2008 to 14% in FY2009.

The Group’s interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings are set out as follows:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Penguin International Limited (the “Company”) remains committed to maintaining high corporate governance standards and 
sound corporate practices in the Group, in accordance with the Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (the “Code”). This report 
sets out the corporate governance practices of the Company with specifi c reference to the principles of the Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of Affairs 
Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance
Principle 3: Role of Chairman and Managing Director
Principle 6: Access to Information

Information on Directors

The Board comprised six Directors as of the date of this report, of which three were Independent Directors. The lean Board 
and diverse mix of professional backgrounds have greatly benefi ted the Group. The directors are as follows: 

Executive Directors

James Tham Tuck Choong (Managing Director)
Tung May Fong (Finance and Administration Director)

Non-Executive Directors

Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir* (Chairman of the Board) 
Ong Kian Min (Independent)
Koo Ah Seang (Independent)
Wong Ngiam Jih (Independent)

* Mr Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir was elected as Chairman of the Board on 24 February 2010.

Board Duties and Meetings

The composition of the Board and independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee to 
ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience to govern and manage the Group’s affairs.

The Board conducts regular scheduled meetings on a quarterly basis. Ah-hoc meetings are convened when circumstances 
require. The attendance of the Directors at meetings of the Board and other Committees during the FY2009 is as follows:
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Board Audit Committee Remuneration 
Committee

Nominating 
Committee

Name of Directors A B A B A B A B

Heng Kheng Seng 1 4 4 – – – – – –

Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir 4 4 – – – – – –

Ong Kian Min 4 4 4 4 1 1 2 2

Koo Ah Seang 4 4 4 4 1 1 2 2

Wong Ngiam Jih 4 4 4 4 1 1 2 2

Tung May Fong 
4 4 – – – – – –

James Tham Tuck Choong 
4 4 – – – – – –

A: The number of meetings held while the Director was a member of the Board or other Committees. 
B: The number of meetings attended while the Director was a member of the Board or other Committees.

1. Mr. Heng Kheng Seng resigned from the Board on 24 February 2010.

The Board is responsible for the success of the Company and is accountable to the shareholders while the Management is 
accountable to the Board.

The principle functions of the Board are to:

1. formulate and approve the Group’s policies, strategies and fi nancial objectives;
2. approve the Group’s annual budgets, major funding proposals, investment/divestment proposals and corporate or 
 fi nancial restructuring;
3. review and endorse the framework of remuneration for the Board and key executives as recommended by the   
 Remuneration Committee;
4. approve the nominations to the Board of Directors and appointment of key executives, as recommended by the   
 Nominating Committee; and
5. assume responsibility for corporate governance and compliance with the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and the rules and  
 requirements of regulatory bodies.

The roles of the Chairman and the Managing Director are separate, with a clear distinction of responsibilities. The Chairman is 
a Non-Executive and Non-Independent Director. The Chairman, being a Non-Executive Director, leaves the day-to-day running 
of the business of the Group to the Managing Director, but bears responsibility for the workings of the Board and ensuring its 
effectiveness in all aspects of its role. The Non-Executive Chairman and Managing Director are not related to each other.

The Chairman sets the agenda for the Board meetings and exercises control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the fl ow 
of information between the Management of the Company and the Board. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (cont’d)
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Presently, the Articles of Association of the Company provides that all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least 
once every three years. Accordingly, for the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, Mr. Wong Ngiam Jih and Mr. Ong Kian Min 
will be due for re-election pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of Association. 

The Board has no dissenting view on the Chairman and Managing Director’s statements for the year under review.

Training for Directors

A formal letter is sent to each Director, upon his appointment, setting out the Director’s statutory duties and obligations. All 
Directors receive appropriate training to develop individual skills as required. Directors are provided with extensive background 
information about the Group’s history and core values, its strategic direction and corporate governance practices as well 
as industry-specifi c knowledge. Directors also have the opportunity to visit the Group’s operational facilities and meet with 
Management to gain a better understanding of the Group’s business operations. The Board as a whole is updated regularly on 
risk management, corporate governance and key changes in the relevant regulatory requirements and accounting standards.

Access to Information 

Board members are provided with quarterly management reports and from time to time, they are furnished with all relevant 
information on material events and transactions to enable them to be fully cognisant of the decisions and actions of the 
Group’s Executive Management. Detailed Board papers are prepared for each meeting of the Board. The Board papers include 
suffi cient information from management on fi nancial, business and corporate issues and are normally circulated in advance of 
each meeting to enable the Directors to obtain further explanations, where necessary, in order to be briefed properly before 
the meeting.

The Directors have separate and independent access to the Company Secretary at all times and they have been provided with 
the phone numbers and e-mail particulars of the Company Secretary. Each Director has the right to seek independent legal 
and other professional advice, at the Company’s expense, concerning any aspect of the Group’s operations or undertakings in 
order to fulfi l her/his duties and responsibilities as a Director.

The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings and ensures Board procedures are followed. The Company Secretary 
is also responsible to ensure that established procedures and all relevant statutes and regulations that are applicable to the 
Company are complied with.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Nominating Committee (“NC”)

Principle 4: Board Membership
Principle 5: Board Performance

The NC was formed in November 2002. It comprises three following Directors, all of whom are Non-Executive and 
Independent.

Mr. Mr. Wong Ngiam Jih (Chairman)
Mr. Ong Kian Min
Mr. Koo Ah Seang

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (cont’d)
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The principle functions of the NC are to establish a formal and transparent process of:

1. identifying and reviewing candidates and making recommendations to the Board for appointment or re-appointment of  
 members of the Board;
2. determining annually whether or not a director is independent; and
3. evaluating the Board’s performance to ensure the effectiveness of the Board as a whole. 

The NC has adopted a formal process for the evaluation of the performance of the Board as a whole and contributions from 
each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board. This process takes into consideration a number of factors, such as 
the adequacy of the Director in carrying out his duties as Director of the Company, the independence of the Director, setting 
objective performance criteria, including those set out in the Code.

Objective performance criteria used to evaluate the performance of the Board are likely to include:

1. The company’s share price performance vis-à-vis the Singapore Straits Times Index;
2. Return on assets (“ROA”);
3. Return on equity (“ROE”);
4. Return on investment (“ROI”); and
5. Profi tability on capital employed.

Reviews of the Board performance, as appropriate, are undertaken collectively by the Board annually and informally on a 
continual basis by the NC. 

At the present moment, all Directors submit themselves for re-election at least once in every three years at the Annual 
General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company. 

The search and nomination for new directors, if any, will be either from internal promotion or through search companies, 
contacts and recommendations that go through the normal selection process, to cast the net as wide as possible for the right 
candidates.

Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

Principle 7: Procedures for developing remuneration policies
Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration
Principle 9: Disclosure of Remuneration/Material Contracts

The RC was established in November 2002. It comprises three following Directors, all of whom are Non-Executive and 
Independent.
 
Mr. Koo Ah Seang (Chairman)
Mr. Ong Kian Min
Mr. Wong Ngiam Jih

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (cont’d)
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The RC’s principal responsibilities are to:
1. review and recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration and associated matters of the key and senior   
 executives;
2. review and determine the remuneration package and associated matters of each Executive Director;
3. review and recommend to the members of the Company the remuneration and associated matters of the Non-  
 Executive Directors of the Company; and
4. oversee the administration of the Penguin Share Performance Plan that is currently in place. 

The RC reviews, for recommendation to the Board, the specifi c remuneration packages of Executive Directors and key 
executives and also reviews subsequent increments and performance bonuses where these payments are discretionary. 
There are appropriate and meaningful measures in place for the purposes of assessing the performances of Executives 
Directors and key executives.

The Executive Directors’ remuneration packages are based on the performance of the Group and the individual. No individual 
Director is involved in the fi xing of his own remuneration. Executive Directors do not receive Directors’ fees. Non-Executive 
Directors are paid Directors’ fees, determined by the full Board based on the effort, time spent and responsibilities of the 
Independent Directors. The payment is subject to approval of the Company at each AGM.

The Company currently does not have a formal service contract with Non-Executive Directors. Each Executive Director has a 
service contract, which is subject to termination by the Company by giving not less than six months’ notice. 

Except as disclosed in the Report of the Directors and Financial Statements, no material contracts (including loans) of the 
Company or its subsidiaries involving the interests of the Managing Director or any Directors or controlling shareholders 
subsisted at the end of the fi nancial year or had been entered into since the end of the previous fi nancial year.

Details of remuneration and benefi ts of Directors and key executives (who are not Directors of the Company) of the Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2009 are set out below (within broad bands):

Remuneration of Directors and Key Executives

Remuneration Bands Salary
%

Bonus
%

Fees
%

Directors
(Between S$250,000 and S$499,999)

James Tham Tuck Choong 62 38 –

Tung May Fong 66 34 –

(Below S$250,000)

Heng Kheng Seng* – – 100

Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir – – 100

Ong Kian Min – – 100

Koo Ah Seang – – 100

Wong Ngiam Jih – – 100

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (cont’d)
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Remuneration Bands

Key Executives
(Between S$250,000 and S$499,999)

John Richard Price

(Below S$250,000)

Alfred Tan Chin Wei

Law Chwan Yaw

Ho Kai Kay

Vincent Koh Soon Guan

Philip Tan Keok Tong

S. Jameson S/O Suparmaniam

Sun Mun Yew

Thomas Chung

George Lee Chye Hock

* Mr Heng Kheng Seng resigned as Director of the Company on 24 February 2010.

The Company does not employ any immediate family member of any Director and there is no payment of any remuneration 
to the immediate family member of a Director.

Audit Committee (“AC”)

Principle 11: Audit Committee
Principle 12: Internal Controls
Principle 13: Internal Audit

The AC comprises three members, all of whom are Non-Executive and Independent. Two of the members have accounting 
or related fi nancial management background while the Chairman, Mr. Ong Kian Min, has a legal background. The NC is of 
the view that the members of the AC have suffi cient fi nancial management expertise and experience to discharge the AC’s 
function.

Mr. Ong Kian Min (Chairman)
Mr. Koo Ah Seang
Mr. Wong Ngiam Jih

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (cont’d)
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The AC performs the following functions:

1. Reviews the scope, audit plans, results and effectiveness of the external and internal auditors;
2. Evaluates the adequacy of the internal control systems of the Group by reviewing written reports from the internal and  
 external auditors, and Management’s responses and actions to correct any defi ciencies;
3. Reviews any appraisal or assessment of the performance of members of the internal audit function;
4. Reviews signifi cant risks or exposures with Management and the external and internal auditors and assesses the steps  
 Management has taken to minimise such risks to the Group to safeguard the Group’s assets;
5. Reviews the independence of the external auditors annually;
6. Reviews the external auditor’s Management letter and Management’s response;
7. Reviews the annual and quarterly fi nancial statements and announcements to shareholders to ensure compliance with  
 accounting standards and other legal requirements before submission to the Board for adoption;
8. Reviews related party transactions as may be required by the regulatory authorities or the provisions of the Companies  
 Act; and
9. Considers other matters as requested by the Board.

The external auditors have full access to the AC which and can conduct or authorise investigations into any matters within its 
terms of reference. The AC also has full access to and co-operation from Management and full discretion to invite any Directors 
or Executive Offi cers to attend its meetings and reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions. 

In performing its functions, the AC met with the external auditors, without the presence of Management, to review and 
discuss fi ndings, problems and reservations arising from the audits at least annually. Minutes of the AC meetings are regularly 
submitted to the Board for its information and review.

The AC has reviewed the Group’s risk assessment, and based on the audit reports and Management controls in place, is 
satisfi ed that there are adequate internal controls in the Group. 

The Board recognises the need and is responsible for maintaining a system of internal controls and processes to safeguard 
shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets. The AC monitors the effectiveness of the internal control systems and 
procedures. 

The Company has in place an internal audit team consisting of staff from different departments to conduct internal audits 
periodically. The internal audit team reports primarily to the Chairman of the AC and administratively to the Managing 
Director.

The AC reviews and approves the annual internal audit plan. As and when the need arises, the AC will request internal review 
assignments to be delegated or outsourced.

The AC confi rmed that it has undertaken a review of all non-audit services provided by the auditors, and they would not, in the 
AC’s opinion, affect the independence of the auditors.
 
The Company has put in place a Whistle-Blowing Policy for the Penguin Group. The Policy serves to encourage and provide a 
channel for employees to report in good faith and in confi dence, without fear of reprisals, concerns about possible improprieties 
in fi nancial reporting or other matters. The arrangement also ensures independent investigation of such matters and appropriate 
follow-up actions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (cont’d)
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 10: Accountability and Audit
Principle 14: Communication with Shareholders
Principle 15: Greater Shareholder Participation

The Board is mindful of its obligation to release timely and fair disclosure of material information and does not practise 
selective disclosure. In line with continuous disclosure obligations of the Company in line with the SGX-ST’s Listing Rules and 
the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 the Board’s policy is that all shareholders should be informed in a timely and equal 
manner of all major developments that impact the Group. 

Price-sensitive announcements including interim and full-year results are released through SGXNET within the mandatory 
period. All shareholders of the Company receive the Annual Report and notice of AGM, together with explanatory notes or a 
circular on items of special business, at least 14 calendar days before the meeting (excluding the date of notice and the date 
of meeting). The Annual Report is also subsequently posted on the Company’s website. 

Shareholders of the Company are encouraged to attend the AGM and in the event that the member cannot attend the AGM, 
the Articles of Association of the Company allows a member to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote on behalf of the 
member. The Board has also developed several channels, such as the Group’s website, email or fax, for shareholders who are 
not able to attend the AGM to contribute their feedback and inputs regarding the Company and its operations. 

RISK MANAGEMENT

Management regularly reviews the Group’s business and operational activities to identify areas of signifi cant business risks as 
well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks. The Management reviews all signifi cant control policies and 
procedures and highlights all signifi cant matters to the directors and the AC.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Group has established the procedures to ensure that the interested person transactions with interested persons are 
undertaken on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms. 

The aggregate value of transactions conducted with the following interested persons pursuant to the IPT Mandate was not 
material (all less than $100,000) during the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2009:

(a) Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir; and
(b) Associates of Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir. 

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Group has adopted the “Code of Conduct on Dealings in Securities”, setting out a code of conduct on dealings in the 
Company’s securities by all Directors and employees of the Group. The code of conduct relates to, inter alia, insider trading 
prohibitions under the Securities and Future Act, Cap 289, the disclosure requirements of the SGX-ST and prohibitions on 
Directors and employees from dealing in the Company’s securities during the two weeks immediately preceding, and up to 
the time of the announcement of, the Company’s results for each of the fi rst three quarters of its fi nancial year and during the 
one month preceding, and up to the time of announcement of, the Company’s results for the full fi nancial year .

OTHER DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

There are no material developments after the preliminary announcement that would affect the performance of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (cont’d)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated fi nancial statements 
of Penguin International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the balance sheet and statement of 
changes in equity of the Company for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2009.

Directors

The Directors of the Company in offi ce at the date of this report are:

Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir
James Tham Tuck Choong
Tung May Fong
Koo Ah Seang
Ong Kian Min
Wong Ngiam Jih

Arrangements to enable Directors to acquire shares or debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the fi nancial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, 
or one of whose object is, to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefi ts by means of the acquisition of shares 
or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ interests in shares and debentures

The following Directors, who held offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year, had, according to the register of directors’ shareholdings 
required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, an interest in shares and share options of the 
Company and related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries), as stated below:

Held by Directors / their nominees

Name of Director

At the
beginning of

the fi nancial year

At the
end of the

fi nancial year

At
21 January

2010

The Company
Penguin International Limited
(Ordinary shares)

Heng Kheng Seng 40,486,605 33,596,087 33,596,087
Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir 115,985,649 115,985,649 130,000,649
James Tham Tuck Choong 375,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
Tung May Fong 62,500 154,500 154,500

Except as disclosed in this report, no Director who held offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year had interests in shares, share 
options, warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the fi nancial year or at 
the end of the fi nancial year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Directors’ contractual benefi ts

Except as disclosed in the fi nancial statements, since the end of the previous fi nancial year, no Director of the Company has 
received or become entitled to receive a benefi t by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the 
Director, or with a fi rm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial fi nancial 
interest.

Options

No options to take up unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries were granted and no shares were issued by virtue 
of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries. There were no other unissued shares 
in the Company or its subsidiaries under option at the end of the fi nancial year.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act.  The 
functions performed are detailed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as auditors.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

James Tham Tuck Choong
Director

Tung May Fong
Director

Singapore
23 March 2010
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We, James Tham Tuck Choong and Tung May Fong, being two of the Directors of Penguin International Limited, do hereby 
state that, in the opinion of the Directors,

(i) the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
statements of changes in equity, and consolidated cash fl ow statement together with notes thereto are drawn up so 
as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2009 and the 
results of the business, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for 
the year ended on that date, and

(ii) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as 
and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

James Tham Tuck Choong
Director

Tung May Fong
Director

Singapore
23 March 2010

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
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We have audited the accompanying fi nancial statements of Penguin International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2009, the 
statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company, the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income and consolidated cash fl ow statement of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of 
signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s responsibility for the fi nancial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these fi nancial statements in accordance with the 
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility 
includes: devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls suffi cient to provide a reasonable assurance that 
assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that 
they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profi t and loss accounts and balance sheets and to 
maintain accountability of assets; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates 
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion,

(i) the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of 
the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 
2009 and the results, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company for the 
year ended on that date; and

(ii) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries incorporated 
in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and Certifi ed Public Accountants
Singapore
23 March 2010

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
To the Members of Penguin International Limited
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Note 2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Revenue 4 113,994 98,395
Cost of sales (82,524) (68,976)

Gross profi t 31,470 29,419

Other operating income 5 4,790 10,286
Marketing and distribution costs (665) (609)
Administrative expenses 6 (14,262) (15,475)
Other operating expenses 7 (11,486) (11,685)
Finance costs 8 (558) (1,032)
Interest income 8 57 441

9,346 11,345
Share of results of joint venture (791) 2

Profi t before taxation 8,555 11,347
Tax expense 10 (1,247) (2,505)

Profi t for the year 7,308 8,842

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 7,379 8,842
Minority interests (71) –

7,308 8,842

Earnings per share
- basic 11 1.13 cents 1.84 cents
- diluted 1.13 cents 1.84 cents

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
for the year ended 31 December 2009

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the fi nancial statements.
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Note 2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Profi t for the year 7,308 8,842

Other comprehensive income:

Realisation of revaluation reserve on disposal of property, plant and equipment,           
  net of deferred tax – 319
Foreign currency translation (585) (20)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (585) 299

Total comprehensive income for the year 6,723 9,141

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 6,794 9,141
Minority interests (71) –

6,723 9,141

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the year ended 31 December 2009

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the fi nancial statements.
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Group Company

Note 2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 103,830 75,789 24,146 19,823
Investment in subsidiaries 13 – – 23,866 23,866
Investment in joint venture company 14 – 202 – –
Other investments 15 6 6 6 6
Intangible asset 16 78 78 – –

Current assets
Inventories 17 10,456 4,821 329 396
Work-in-progress in excess of
  progress billings 18 19,098 6,407 – –
Trade receivables 19 15,678 15,040 91 372
Other receivables and deposits 20 20,256 21,231 795 998
Prepayments 561 696 65 311
Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 21 – – 4,802 4,798
Due from a related company
  (non-trade) 22 – – – 10,575
Due from joint venture company
  (non-trade) 22 – 15,585 – –
Due from an affi liated company
  (trade) 23 450 347 – –
Loans to subsidiaries 21 – – 73,354 56,441
Loan to joint venture company 24 – 288 – –
Short term deposits 25 19,302 27,866 9,968 15,798
Cash and bank balances 25 5,999 6,044 1,335 2,448

91,800 98,325 90,739 92,137
Assets classifi ed as held for sale 26 – 224 – –

91,800 98,549 90,739 92,137

BALANCE SHEETS 
as at 31 December 2009
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Group Company

Note 2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current liabilities
Trade payables 27 14,329 5,508 67 296
Other payables and accruals 28 19,197 12,214 2,602 1,945
Billings on work-in-progress in
  excess of related costs 18 – 5,234 – –
Deferred revenue/gain 2,253 2,102 255 144
Term loans 29 9,905 9,816 6,500 8,378
Provision for income tax 1,078 1,767 – 589
Finance lease liabilities 30 20 14 – –
Derivative liability 31 – 67 – 67
Deposits from subsidiaries 21 – – – 188

46,782 36,722 9,424 11,607

Net current assets 45,018 61,827 81,315 80,530

Non-current liabilities
Finance lease liabilities 30 12 10 – –
Term loans 29 7,376 8,984 – –
Deferred tax liabilities 32 10,430 10,132 2,294 2,167
Deferred revenue/gain 4,634 5,017 – –

Net assets 126,480 113,759 127,039 122,058

Equity attributable to equity
  holders of the Company
Share capital 33 94,943 88,842 94,943 88,842
Reserves 31,711 24,917 32,096 33,216

126,654 113,759 127,039 122,058
Minority interest (174) – – –

Total equity 126,480 113,759 127,039 122,058

BALANCE SHEETS (cont’d)
as at 31 December 2009

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the fi nancial statements.
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Minority
interests

Total
equity

Share
capital

Other
reserves

Revenue
reserve Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(Note 34)

Group

2008

Balance at 1 January 2008 75,464 (704) 16,480 91,240 – 91,240
Total comprehensive income for the 
year – (987) 10,128 9,141 – 9,141

Issue of shares (Note 33) 13,378 – – 13,378 – 13,378

Balance at
31 December 2008 88,842 (1,691) 26,608 113,759 – 113,759

2009

Balance at 1 January 2009 88,842 (1,691) 26,608 113,759 – 113,759
Total comprehensive income for the 
year – (585) 7,379 6,794 (71) 6,723

Acquisition of subsidiary – – – – (103) (103)
Issue of shares (Note 33) 6,101 – – 6,101 – 6,101

Balance at
31 December 2009 94,943 (2,276) 33,987 126,654 (174) 126,480

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
for the year ended 31 December 2009
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Share
capital

Revenue
reserve Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Company

2008

Balance at 1 January 2008 75,464 25,578 101,042
Total comprehensive income for the year – 7,638 7,638
Issue of shares (Note 33) 13,378 – 13,378

Balance at 31 December 2008 88,842 33,216 122,058

2009

Balance at 1 January 2009 88,842 33,216 122,058
Total comprehensive loss for the year – (1,120) (1,120)
Issue of shares (Note 33) 6,101 – 6,101

Balance at 31 December 2009 94,943 32,096 127,039

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (cont’d)
for the year ended 31 December 2009

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the fi nancial statements.
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Note 2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Cash fl ows from operating activities
Profi t before taxation 8,555 11,347
Adjustments:
  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9,673 8,956
  Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (62) (8,928)
  Gain on disposal of assets held for sale – (599)
  Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (68) –
  Impairment of other investments – 5
  Interest expense 463 895
  Interest income (57) (441)
  Allowance for doubtful debts 307 36
  Bad trade debts recovered (26) –
  Negative goodwill on consolidation (2,703) –
  Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment) on property,
    plant and equipment 64 (21)
  Realisation of deferred gain arising from sale
    of motor launches to joint venture company (382) (319)
  Share of results of joint venture 791 (2)
  (Reversal of)/net fair value loss on derivative liability (67) 67
  Property, plant and equipment written off 355 89
  Currency alignment (575) 571

Operating profi t before working capital changes 16,268 11,656
  Inventories (5,617) (1,537)
  Work-in-progress in excess of related billings (12,691) (11,194)
  Trade receivables 1,555 (4,351)
  Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 1,641 (2,302)
  Due from an affi liated company (trade) (103) 30
  Due from joint venture company (non trade) (1,170) (13,725)
  Trade payables 7,936 (2,361)
  Billings on work-in-progress in excess of related costs (5,234) (7,619)
  Other payables and accruals (2,246) 2,568
  Deferred revenue/gain 152 1,063

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 491 (27,772)
Interest paid (463) (895)
Interest received 57 441
Income taxes paid (1,516) (1,294)

Net cash fl ows used in operating activities (1,431) (29,520)

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
for the year ended 31 December 2009
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Note 2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Cash fl ows from investing activities
Deposits paid for purchase of property, plant and 
  equipment – (13,142)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 
  equipment 529 20,609
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale – 2,536
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (10,714) (16,007)
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 13 (2,503) –
Net proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 13 781 –
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits with licensed banks 7,197 (5,300)

Net cash fl ows used in investing activities (4,710) (11,304)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities
Repayment of term loans (9,857) (2,117)
Proceeds from term loans 8,500 –
Net proceeds from issuance of shares 6,101 13,378
Repayment of fi nance lease liabilities (15) (93)

Net cash fl ows generated from fi nancing activities 4,729 11,168

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,412) (29,656)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7,411 37,067

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 25 5,999 7,411

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (cont’d)
for the year ended 31 December 2009

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the fi nancial statements.
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1. Corporate information

Penguin International Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company, which is incorporated in the Republic of 
Singapore and publicly traded on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST).

The registered offi ce and principal place of business of the Company is located at 18 Tuas Basin Link, Singapore 
638784.

The principal activities of the Company are to act as builders, owners, operators and charterers of passenger ferries and 
launches, and the provision of related repairs and maintenance services.  The principal activities of the subsidiaries are 
disclosed in Note 13 to the fi nancial statements.

There have been no signifi cant changes in the nature of the activities of the Company and its subsidiaries during the 
fi nancial year.

2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the 
Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

The fi nancial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies 
below.

The fi nancial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (SGD or $) and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand ($’000) except when otherwise indicated.

The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Group and the Company and are consistent with those 
used in the previous fi nancial year.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous fi nancial year except as follows:

On 1 January 2009, the Group adopted the following standards and interpretations mandatory for annual fi nancial 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

• FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)

• Amendments to FRS 18 Revenue

• Amendments to FRS 23 Borrowing Costs

• Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – 
Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

• Amendments to FRS 101 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards and FRS 27 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 December 2009
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

• Amendments to FRS 102 Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

• Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

• FRS 108 Operating Segments

• Improvements to FRSs issued in 2008

• INT FRS 113 Customer Loyalty Programmes

• INT FRS 116 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

• Amendments to INT FRS 109 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives and FRS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement – Embedded Derivatives

• INT FRS 118 Transfers of Assets from Customers

Adoption of these standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the fi nancial performance or position of the 
Group. They did however give rise to additional disclosures, including, in some cases, revisions to accounting policies.

The principal effects of these changes are as follows:

FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Revised presentation

The revised FRS 1 separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity includes 
only details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity presented in the statement of other 
comprehensive income. In addition, the Standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income which presents 
income and expense recognised in the period. This statement may be presented in one single statement, or two linked 
statements. The Group has elected to present this statement as two linked statements.

Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

The amendments to FRS 107 require additional disclosure about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. Fair value 
measurements are to be disclosed by source of inputs using a three level hierarchy for each class of fi nancial instrument. 
In addition, reconciliation between the beginning and ending balance for Level 3 fair value measurements is now 
required, as well as signifi cant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements. The amendments 
also clarify the requirements for liquidity risk disclosures. The fair value measurement disclosures and liquidity risk 
disclosures are presented in Note 38 and Note 39 to the fi nancial statements respectively.

FRS 108 Operating Segments

FRS 108 requires disclosure of information about the Group’s operating segments and replaces the requirement to 
determine primary and secondary reporting segments of the Group. The Group determined that the reportable operating 
segments are the same as the business segments previously identifi ed under FRS 14 Segment Reporting. Additional 
disclosures about each of the segments are shown in Note 37, including revised comparative information.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

Improvements to FRSs issued in 2008

In 2008, the Accounting Standards Council issued an omnibus of amendments to FRS.  There are separate transitional 
provisions for each amendment. The adoption of the following amendments resulted in changes to accounting policies 
but did not have any impact on the fi nancial position or performance of the Company:

• FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Assets and liabilities classifi ed as held for trading in accordance with 
FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are not automatically classifi ed as current in the 
balance sheet. The Group amended its accounting policy accordingly, which did not result in any change in the 
fi nancial position as the Group does not have fi nancial instruments classifi ed as held for trading.

• FRS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Replaces the term “net selling price” with “fair value less costs to 
sell”. The Group amended its accounting policy accordingly, which did not result in any change in the fi nancial 
position.

• FRS 23 Borrowing Costs: The defi nition of borrowing costs is revised to consolidate the two types of items 
that are considered components of “borrowing costs” into one – the interest expense calculated using the 
effective interest rate method calculated in accordance with FRS 39. The Group has amended its accounting 
policy accordingly which did not result in any change in its fi nancial position.

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective

The Group has not adopted the following standards and interpretations that have been issued but not yet effective:

Description

Effective for annual
periods beginning

on or after

Amendments to FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 1 July 2009

Amendments to FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible 
Hedged Item

1 July 2009

Revised FRS 103 Business Combinations 1 July 2009

Amendments to FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 1 July 2009

INT FRS 117 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners 1 July 2009

Improvements to FRSs issued in 2009:

– Amendments to FRS 38 Intangible Assets 1 July 2009

– Amendments to FRS 102 Share-based Payment 1 July 2009

– Amendments to FRS 108 Operating Segments 1 July 2009
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

Description

Effective for annual
periods beginning

on or after

– Amendments to INT FRS 109 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives 1 July 2009

– Amendments to INT FRS 116 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 1 July 2009

– Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2010

– Amendments to FRS 7 Statement of Cash Flows 1 January 2010

– Amendments to FRS 17 Leases 1 January 2010

– Amendments to FRS 36 Impairment of Assets 1 January 2010

– FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 1 January 2010

– Amendments to FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 1 January 2010

– Amendments to FRS 108 Operating Segments 1 January 2010

Except for the revised FRS 103 and the amendments to FRS 27, the directors expect that the adoption of the other 
standards and interpretations above will have no material impact on the fi nancial statements in the period of initial 
application. The nature of the impending changes in accounting policy on adoption of the revised FRS 103 and the 
amendments to FRS 27 are described below.

Revised FRS 103 Business Combinations and Amendments to FRS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements

The revised standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The revised FRS 103 introduces 
a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations occurring after 1 July 2009. These changes will impact 
the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported 
results. The Amendments to FRS 27 require that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of 
control) is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor 
will they give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard changes the accounting for losses incurred 
by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. Other consequential amendments were made to FRS 
7 Statement of Cash Flows, FRS 12 Income Taxes, FRS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, FRS 
28 Investments in Associates and FRS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. The changes from the revised FRS 103 and 
Amendments to FRS 27 will affect future acquisitions or loss of control and transactions with minority interests. The 
standards may be early applied. However, the Group does not intend to early adopt.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated fi nancial statements comprise the fi nancial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the 
balance sheet date. The fi nancial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated fi nancial 
statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like 
transactions and events in similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions 
are eliminated in full.

Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Identifi able assets acquired and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date.  Adjustments to those fair values relating to previously held interests are treated as a revaluation and 
recognised in equity.  Any excess of the cost of business combination over the Group’s share in the net fair value of 
the acquired subsidiary’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recorded as goodwill on the balance 
sheet.  The accounting policy for goodwill is set out in Note 2.9.  Any excess of the Group’s share in the net fair value 
of the acquired subsidiary’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of business combination 
is recognised as income in profi t or loss on the date of acquisition. When the Group acquires a business, embedded 
derivatives separated from the host contract by the acquiree are not reassessed on acquisition unless the business 
combination results in a change in the terms of the contract that signifi cantly modifi es the cash fl ows that would 
otherwise be required under the contract.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and 
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

2.5 Transaction with minority interest

Minority interests represent the portion of profi t or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group and 
are presented separately in the consolidated income statement and within equity in the consolidated balance sheet, 
separately from parent shareholders’ equity. Transactions with minority interests are accounted for using the entity 
concept method, whereby, transactions with minority interests are accounted for as transactions with owners. On 
acquisition of minority interests, the difference between the consideration and book value of the share of the net assets 
acquired is refl ected as being a transaction between owners and recognised directly in equity.  Gain or loss on disposal 
to minority interests is recognised directly in equity.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.6 Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its 
subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating those 
ruling at the transaction dates.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost 
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.  Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair 
value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the balance 
sheet date are recognised in profi t or loss except for exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part 
of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations, which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated under foreign currency translation reserve in equity. The foreign currency translation reserve is reclassifi ed 
from equity to profi t or loss of the Group on disposal of the foreign operation.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into SGD at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date and their statements of comprehensive income are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.  
The exchange differences arising on the translation are taken directly to other comprehensive income.  On disposal of a 
foreign operation, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that particular 
foreign operation is recognised in profi t or loss.

2.7 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies so as to 
obtain benefi ts from its activities.

In the Company’s separate fi nancial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment 
losses.

2.8 Joint venture

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject 
to joint control, where the strategic fi nancial and operating decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control.  The Group’s share of the results of the joint venture company is recognised in 
the consolidated fi nancial statements under the equity method.  The joint venture is equity accounted from the date the 
Group obtains joint control until the date the Group ceases to have joint control over the joint venture.

The fi nancial statements of the joint venture are prepared as of the same reporting date as the Company. Where 
necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.9 Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired is allocated, from the acquisition date, to each of the Group’s 
cash-generating units that are expected to benefi t from the synergies of the combination.

The cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is 
an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the cash-generating 
unit, including the allocated goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. Where the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profi t or loss. 
Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within 
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance 
is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit 
retained.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations on or after 1 January 2005 are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional currency of the foreign 
operations and translated in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.6.

2.10 Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an asset, if and only if, it is probable that future economic benefi ts associated with the item 
will fl ow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses.  

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life of the asset as follows:

Tugs and barges 10 - 20 years
Leasehold building 30 years
Motor launches 5 - 20 years
Scaffolding equipment 3 - 8 years
Machinery and equipment 4 - 15 years
Offi ce equipment 3 - 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.10 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Assets under construction are not depreciated as these are not available for use.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each fi nancial year-end, and adjusted prospectively, 
if appropriate.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefi ts are 
expected from its use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in profi t or loss in 
the year the asset is derecognised.

2.11 Impairment of non-fi nancial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.  If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the 
asset’s recoverable amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash infl ows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specifi c to the asset.  Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  In determining fair value less 
costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. The calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples or other 
available fair value indicators. Impairment losses are recognised in profi t or loss as ‘other operating expenses’.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had 
no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profi t or loss.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.12 Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the fi nancial instrument.

When fi nancial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of fi nancial assets not 
at fair value through profi t or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

A fi nancial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash fl ows from the asset has expired.  On 
derecognition of a fi nancial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive income is 
recognised in profi t or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of fi nancial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date i.e. the date 
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.  Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of 
fi nancial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace concerned.

(a) Loans and receivables

 Financial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classifi ed 
as loans and receivables.  Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.  Gains and losses are recognised in profi t or loss when the loans and 
receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

(b) Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

 Available-for-sale fi nancial assets are fi nancial assets that are not classifi ed in any of the other categories. After 
initial recognition, available-for-sale fi nancial assets are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses from changes 
in fair value of the fi nancial asset are recognised in other comprehensive income, except that impairment losses, 
foreign exchange gains and losses and interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in 
profi t or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in 
profi t or loss when the fi nancial asset is derecognised.

 Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less 
impairment loss.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes in value.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.14 Impairment of fi nancial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a fi nancial asset or a group 
of fi nancial assets is impaired.

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on fi nancial assets carried at amortised cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash fl ows discounted at the fi nancial asset’s original effective interest rate. 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account.  The amount of the loss 
is recognised in profi t or loss.

When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired fi nancial assets is reduced directly or 
if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance account are written 
off against the carrying value of the fi nancial asset.

To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on fi nancial assets has been incurred, 
the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties of the debtor 
and default or signifi cant delay in payments.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the 
reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profi t or loss.

(b) Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a fi nancial asset carried at cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash fl ows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar fi nancial asset. Such 
impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.

(c) Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

Signifi cant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost, signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties of the issuer or obligor, 
and the disappearance of an active trading market are considerations to determine whether there is objective 
evidence that investment securities classifi ed as available-for-sale fi nancial assets are impaired.

2.15 Assets held for sale

Assets are classifi ed as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through sale rather than 
continuing use.  Such assets are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.  Assets 
held for sale are not subjected to depreciation.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.16 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes materials and all direct expenditure, 
determined on a weighted average basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary 
to make the sale.

2.17 Construction contracts

Contract revenue and contract costs are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage 
of completion of the contract activity at the balance sheet date, when the outcome of a construction contract can be 
estimated reliably. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is 
recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable and contract costs are recognised 
as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. An expected loss on the construction contract is recognised as 
an expense immediately when it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue.

Contract revenue comprises the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and variations in contract work, claims 
and incentive payments to the extent that is probable that they will result in revenue and they are capable of being 
reliably measured.

The stage of completion is determined by reference to the completion of a physical proportion of the contract work.

2.18 Work-in-progress

Construction-in-progress in relation to uncompleted vessels pursuant to contracts signed with third parties is stated 
at cost plus attributable profi t less progress billings and any amount provided for losses estimated on the completion 
of contracts.  Work-in-progress in relation to uncompleted repairs and maintenance projects and uncompleted vessels 
held as stocks are stated at cost.

Cost includes all direct materials and labour costs and those indirect costs related to contract performance, such as 
indirect labour, supplies and tools. Customer billings received and receivable in excess of costs are classifi ed as current 
liabilities under progress billings in excess of work-in-progress.

2.19 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities within the scope of FRS 39 are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the fi nancial instrument.

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus, in the case of fi nancial liabilities other than derivatives, 
directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, fi nancial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in profi t or loss when the liabilities are derecognised and through the amortisation 
process.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.19 Financial liabilities (cont’d)

A fi nancial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an existing fi nancial 
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modifi ed, such an exchange or modifi cation is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profi t or loss.

2.20 Derivative fi nancial instruments

The Group uses derivative fi nancial instruments such as forward currency contracts to hedge its risks associated with 
foreign currency. Such derivative fi nancial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date the derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair 
value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are taken 
directly to profi t or loss for the year.

The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts 
with similar maturity profi les.

2.21 Deferred revenue/gain

Deferred revenue/gain comprises sales of ferry tickets billed in advance at the year end and the unrealised gain on sale 
of motor launches to a joint venture company in previous years. Income from sales of ferry tickets will be released to 
revenue when passengers utilise the tickets.

2.22 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred.  Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the 
activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are 
incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use or sale.

2.23 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive), as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that an outfl ow of economic benefi ts will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to refl ect the current best estimate. If it is no longer 
probable that an outfl ow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.23 Provisions (cont’d)

Liquidated damages

Provision for liquidated damages is made in respect of anticipated claims from customers on contracts of which deadlines 
are overdue or not expected to be completed on time in accordance with contractual obligations. The utilisation of 
provisions is dependent on the timing of claims.

Foreseeable losses

Provision for foreseeable losses is made for anticipated losses on uncompleted contracts, if any, when the possibility 
of loss is ascertained.

2.24 Employee benefi ts

(a) Defi ned contribution plans

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defi ned by the laws of the countries in which it has 
operations. In particular, the Singapore companies in the Group make contributions to the Central Provident Fund 
Scheme in Singapore, a defi ned contribution pension scheme. Contributions to national pension schemes are 
recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed.

(b) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to employees.  The 
estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

2.25 Leases

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased 
item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value 
of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments are 
apportioned between the fi nance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to profi t or loss.  Contingent rents, if any, are 
charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term, 
if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.26 Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefi ts will fl ow to the Group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured.

(a) Income from ferry and charter hire, tour services, scaffolding services, ship management services and repairs 
and maintenance

Income from ferry and charter hire, tour services, scaffolding services, ship management services and repairs 
and maintenance is recognised upon rendering of services. Passenger fares are recognised upon completion of 
each voyage. The value of unused tickets is included in current liabilities as deferred revenue/gain.

(b) Income from boat building

Income from boat building contracts is recognised using the percentage-of-completion method. The percentage 
of completion for a given contract is determined after considering the relationship of value of work done-to-date 
to total contract revenue for the contract.

(c) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised upon the transfer of signifi cant risk and rewards of ownership of the goods to the 
customer, which generally coincides with delivery and acceptance of the goods sold.

(d) Interest and dividend income

Interest income is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method) unless collectibility is in 
doubt.  Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

2.27 Income taxes

(a) Current tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the tax authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Current taxes are recognised in profi t or loss to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised outside profi t 
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

(b) Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for fi nancial reporting purposes.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.27 Income taxes (cont’d)

(b) Deferred tax (cont’d)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

– where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither accounting profi t nor taxable profi t or loss; and

– in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled 
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi t will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilised except:

– where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither accounting profi t nor taxable profi t or loss; and

– in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profi t will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that suffi cient taxable profi t will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to 
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to 
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profi t will allow the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax relating to items recognised outside profi t or loss is recognised outside profi t or loss. 
Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill 
on acquisition.

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to 
set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same 
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.27 Income taxes (cont’d)

(c) Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

– Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense item as applicable; and

– Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables on the balance sheet.

2.28 Segment reporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products and services which 
are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance of the respective 
segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the management of the Company who regularly 
review the segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess the segment performance. 
Additional disclosures on each of these segments are shown in Note 37, including the factors used to identify the 
reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

2.29 Contingencies

A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confi rmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not wholly within the control of the 
Group.

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group.

2.30 Share capital and share issue expenses

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity.  Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.
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3. Signifi cant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of the Group’s fi nancial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result 
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the 
future.

3.1 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, 
that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next fi nancial year are discussed below.

(a) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives.  
Management estimates the useful lives of these assets to be within 3 to 30 years. The carrying amount of 
the Group’s property, plant and equipment (excluded construction-in-progress) at 31 December 2009 was 
$99,910,000 (2008: $71,115,000).  Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments 
could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation 
charges could be revised.

(b) Impairment of investments and fi nancial assets

The Group follows the guidance of FRS 39 in determining when an investment or fi nancial asset is other than 
temporarily impaired.  This determination requires signifi cant judgement by the Group which evaluates, among 
other factors, the duration, and extent to which the fair value of an investment or fi nancial asset is less than its 
cost; and the fi nancial health of and near-term business outlook for the investment or fi nancial asset including 
factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and fi nancing cash 
fl ow.

(c) Recognition of contract revenue and expenses

The Group recognises contract revenue and contract costs by reference to the stage of completion of the contract 
activity at the balance sheet date when the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably.

Management uses judgement to estimate the physical proportion of the contract work completed to determine 
the stage of completion of the contracts in progress.  While these estimates take into consideration the contract 
costs incurred for materials, direct labour and subcontractor claims, not all the projects have independent 
assessment by external parties on the stage of completion to consider in preparing such estimation.

The stage of completion is applied on a cumulative basis in each accounting period to the current estimates of 
contract revenue and contract costs.  Changes in the estimate of contract revenue or contract costs, or the effect 
of a change in the estimate of the outcome of a contract could impact the amount of revenue and expenses 
recognised in the income statement in the period in which the change is made and in subsequent periods.

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising from construction contracts at the balance sheet date are 
disclosed in Note 18 to the fi nancial statements.
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3. Signifi cant accounting judgements and estimates

3.1 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(d) Impairment of non-fi nancial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-fi nancial assets at each reporting 
date. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and at other times when such indicators exist. Other non-
fi nancial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be 
recoverable.

When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash fl ows 
from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value 
of those cash fl ows.  Further details of the key assumptions applied in the impairment assessment of goodwill 
are given in Note 16 to the fi nancial statements.

The carrying amount of the Group’s goodwill at 31 December 2009 was $78,000 (2008: $78,000).

4. Revenue

Revenue represents ferry and charter hire income, ship management fee, income from boat building, income from 
repairs and maintenance of motor launches, income from sale of goods, income from scaffolding services, income from 
grating sales and income from sale of tour packages, net of rebates and discounts. Intra-group transactions have been 
excluded from the Group’s revenue.

Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Ferry and charter hire income 53,464 48,457
Ship management fee 329 –
Income from boat building 53,265 39,216
Income from repairs and maintenance of motor launches 833 1,428
Sale of goods 6,043 8,688
Scaffolding services – 54
Grating sales 54 332
Tour services 6 220

113,994 98,395
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5. Other operating income
Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 62 8,928
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale – 599
Claims from insurance company 77 –
Realisation of deferred gain arising from sale of motor
  launches to joint venture company 382 319
Gain on disposal of investment in subsidiaries 68 –
Bad trade debts recovered 26 –
Scrap sales 92 86
Shipping costs recovered 774 –
Negative goodwill on consolidation 2,703 –
Grant income from jobs credit scheme 362 –
Others 244 354

4,790 10,286

During the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2009, the Singapore Finance Minister announced the introduction of a 
Jobs Credit Scheme (Scheme). Under this Scheme, the Group received a 12% cash grant on the fi rst $2,500 of each 
month’s wages for each employee on their Central Provident Fund payroll. The Group received the grant income of 
$362,000 (2008: Nil) in four receipts in March, June, September and December 2009.

6. Administrative expenses
Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (847) (822)
Employee benefi ts expense (9,006) (9,923)
Professional fees (990) (941)
Property, plant and equipment written off (355) (89)
Operating lease expenses (1,261) (1,526)
Non-audit fees paid to:

  Auditors of the Company (70) (80)
Others (1,733) (2,094)

(14,262) (15,475)
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7. Other operating expenses
Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (8,772) (8,085)
Net foreign exchange (loss)/ gain (343) 506
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss on property,
  plant and equipment (64) 21
Allowance for doubtful debts (260) (36)
Bad debts written off (47) –
Insurance expense (1,419) (1,329)
Provision for liquidated damages – (1,697)
Gain/(loss) on derivative liability 67 (67)
Others (648) (998)

(11,486) (11,685)

8. Finance costs/interest income
Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Interest expense on loans and borrowings (460) (887)
Finance charges payable under fi nance leases (3) (8)
Bank charges (95) (137)

(558) (1,032)

Interest income from loan to a joint venture company,
  short term deposits and bank balances 57 441

9. Employee benefi ts
Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Wages, salaries and bonuses (12,869) (13,808)

Central Provident Fund contributions (815) (854)

Other short term benefi ts (1,935) (2,535)

(15,619) (17,197)
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10. Tax expense

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008 are:

Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Statement of comprehensive income:

Current tax
- Current year (1,081) (1,657)
- Over/(under) provision in respect of previous years 259 (80)

Deferred tax
- Movement in temporary differences (900) (700)
- Over/(under) provision in respect of previous years 15 (68)
- Effect of reduction in tax rate 460 –

Income tax expense recognised in profi t or loss (1,247) (2,505)

Deferred income tax related to other comprehensive income:

Net changes in asset revaluation reserve – 319

A reconciliation between the tax expense and the product of accounting profi t multiplied by the applicable tax rate for 
the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Accounting profi t before income tax and share of results
  of joint venture 9,346 11,345

Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profi ts in the countries where the Group operates (1,589) (2,042)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible (1,098) (853)
Tax effect of income not subject to tax 676 1,004
Effect of partial tax exemption 52 82
Effect of reduction in tax rate on deferred tax liability 460 –
Over/(under) provision in respect of prior year 274 (148)
Utilisation of deferred tax assets previously not recognised 24 589
Tax effect of elimination of unrealised profi ts during consolidation 60 (1,129)
Others (106) (8)

Income tax expense recognised in the income statement (1,247) (2,505)

The above reconciliation is prepared by aggregating separate reconciliations for each national jurisdiction.
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11. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profi t for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of 
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the fi nancial year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profi t for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders 
of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares 
into ordinary shares.

The following table refl ects the profi t and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share 
for the years ended 31 December:

Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Profi t for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
  of the Company used in computation of basic and diluted
  earnings per share    7,379 8,842

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic
  earnings per share computation 655,813 480,567

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted
  earnings per share computation 655,813 480,567
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12. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Assets pledged as security

The following property, plant and equipment have been pledged to secure banking facilities (Note 29):

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Motor launches 29,710 37,302 2,944 4,431
Travel lifts (part of machinery and equipment) 513 684 – –

30,223 37,986 2,944 4,431

Asset held under fi nance leases

During the year, additional motor vehicle acquired by means of fi nance lease amounting to $52,342 (2008:$Nil) was in 
respect of the newly acquired subsidiary, Penguin Marine Boats Services L.L.C.

The carrying amount of motor vehicles held under fi nance leases at the balance sheet date was $41,126 
(2008: $17,667)

Impairment of assets

During the year, the Group and the Company carried out a review of the recoverable amount of certain motor launches 
which were laid up or delicensed.

Impairment losses amounting to $64,000 (2008: reversal of impairment losses of $21,000) in relation to certain motor 
launches have been recognised in the “other operating expenses” line item of the consolidated income statement. The 
recoverable amount of the motor launches was based on its fair value less costs to sell by reference to indicative market 
valuation by an independent professional valuer.
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13. Investment in subsidiaries
Company

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 36,355 35,924
Additional investments – 431
Disposal of investments (879) –

35,476 36,355
Impairment losses (11,610) (12,489)

Carrying amount of investments 23,866 23,866

Analysis of impairment losses of investment in subsidiaries:

At beginning of year 12,489 12,489
Disposal of investments (879) –

At end of year 11,610 12,489

Name
Principal
activities

Country of
incorporation

Proportion
(%) of

ownership
interest

Cost of
investment

2009 2008 2009 2008

% % $’000 $’000

Held by the Company

Pelican Offshore 
  Services Pte Ltd(1)

Management and operation 
of anchor handling tug/supply 
vessels and fast supply 
intervention vessels

Singapore 100 100 18,435 18,435

Penguin Marine 
  Offshore Services
  Pte Ltd(1)

Lease and charter of vessels Singapore 100 100 5,003 5,003

Penguin Shipyard
  International 
  Pte Ltd(1)

Builders of passenger ferries and 
launches and provision of related 
repairs and maintenance services

Singapore 100 100 5,000 5,000

Penguin Ferry 
  Services Pte Ltd(1)

Provision of ferry services Singapore 100 100 5,000 5,000
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Name
Principal
activities

Country of
incorporation

Proportion
(%) of

ownership
interest

Cost of
investment

2009 2008 2009 2008

% % $’000 $’000

Held by the Company (cont’d)

Penguin Speed 
  Cargo Pte Ltd ^

Carrier of goods Singapore – 100 – 200

Penguin Ship 
Management Services 
Pte Ltd

(formerly known as 
Penguin Travel & Tours 
Pte Ltd) (1)

Provision of ship repair services
(Provision of tours and travelling  
services in prior year)

Singapore 100 100 1,107 1,107

Marlin Industrial 
  Services Pte. Ltd. (1)

Scaffolding works, offshore 
engineering scaffolding and 
access solutions

Singapore 100 100 500 500

Penguin Logistics &
  Ferries Sdn Bhd @

Operator and charterer of 
passenger ferries and launches

Malaysia – 100 – *

PT Penguin Ferry
  Jasa ^

Operator of passenger ferries 
and provision of sea/marine 
transportation services

Indonesia – 100 – 679

Vista Marine Services
  Pte Ltd(1)

Management and operation of 
tugs and barges

Singapore 100 100 100 100

Soon Tian Oon
  Pte Ltd(1)

Provision of bunkering services Singapore 100 100 231 231

Penguin Middle East
  Pte Ltd(1)

Investment holding Singapore 100 100 100 100

35,476 36,355
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Name
Principal
activities

Country of incorporation 
and place of business

Proportion (%)
of ownership

interest

2009 2008

% %

Held through subsidiaries

PKS Shipyard Pte Ltd(1) Builders of passenger ferries and launches 
and provision of related repairs and 
maintenance services

Singapore 100 100

Pelican Offshore Services
  Sdn Bhd (3)

Management and operation of launches Malaysia 100 100

PT Kim Seah Shipyard
  Indonesia (4)

Builders of passenger ferries and launches 
and provision of related repairs and 
maintenance services 

Indonesia 100 100

Penguin Marine Boats 
Services L.L.C. (2)

Ship management and operation United Arab 
Emirates

75 49

* Cost of investment less than $1,000.

@ Penguin Logistics & Ferries Sdn Bhd was liquidated on 27 May 2009 by way of a member’s voluntary liquidation pursuant to Section 
308(1) of Companies Act, Malaysia.

^ Penguin Speed Cargo Pte Ltd and PT Penguin Ferry Jasa were disposed of during the year.

(1) Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore.

(2) Audited by a member fi rm of Ernst & Young Global.

(3) Audited by SE Lai Associates, a fi rm of Chartered Accountants in Malaysia.

(4) Not required to present audited fi nancial statements under the law of the country of incorporation.
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiary

On 25 October 2009, the Group’s subsidiary company, Penguin Marine Offshore Services Pte Ltd, acquired an additional 
26% equity interest in its 49%-owned joint venture company, Penguin Marine Boats Services L.L.C. (“PMBS”). Upon 
the acquisition, PMBS became a subsidiary of the Group.

The fair values of the identifi able assets and liabilities of PMBS as at the date of acquisition were:

Recognised 
on date of 
acquisition

Carrying 
amount 
before 

combination

$’000 $’000

Property, plant and equipment 27,772 27,129
Cash and cash equivalents 295 295
Trade and other receivables 3,695 3,695

31,762 31,119

Trade and other payables (26,274) (26,274)

Net identifi able assets 5,488 4,845

Total cost of business contribution

The total cost of the business combination is as follows:

$’000

Consideration for 49% equity interest previously held
- Cash paid 62

Consideration for acquisition of additional 26% equity interest
- Cash paid 2,798
- Deferred cash settlement 702

3,500

3,562
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

The effect of acquisition on cash fl ows is as follows:
$’000

Total consideration for 26% equity interest acquired 3,500
Less: Deferred cash settlement (702)

Consideration settled in cash 2,798
Less: Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary acquired (295)

Net cash outfl ow on acquisition 2,503

The total consideration for the 49% and 26% equity interest in PMBS paid by the Company represented the fair value 
of the share of net identifi able assets acquired on the date of acquisition.

Impact of acquisition on income statement

From the date of acquisition, PMBS has contributed a loss of $212,000 to the Group’s profi t net of tax.  If the combination 
had taken place at the beginning of the fi nancial year, the Group’s profi t from continuing operations, net of tax would 
have been $6,983,000 and revenue from continuing operations would have been $123,330,000.

Goodwill arising from acquisition

The acquisition of the 26% equity in PMBS gave rise to negative goodwill amounting to $2,703,000. The negative 
goodwill has been directly recognised in profi t or loss.

Disposal of subsidiaries

The subsidiaries, Penguin Speed Cargo Pte Ltd (“PSC”) and PT Penguin Ferry Jasa (“PTPFJ”) were disposed of on 31 
March 2009 and 5 November 2009 respectively.

The effects of the disposal of subsidiaries on cash fl ows are:
$’000

Property, plant and equipment 250
Current assets 838
Current liabilities (209)

879
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 68

Net disposal price settled by cash 947
Less: Cash of disposed subsidiaries (166)

Net cash infl ow from disposal of subsidiaries 781

The disposal of PSC and PTPFJ resulted in a net gain on disposal of $68,000 to the consolidated fi nancial statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2009. From the beginning of the year up to the date of disposal, the subsidiaries incurred 
a net loss of $151,000.
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14. Investment in joint venture company

Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Unquoted shares, at cost – 63
Share of post-acquisition reserves – 139

– 202

Name
Principal
activities

Country of incorporation 
and place of business

Proportion (%)
of ownership

interest

2009 2008

% %

Held through subsidiary

Penguin Marine Boats
  Services L.L.C.

Ship management and operation United Arab 
Emirates

– 49

On 25 October 2009, the Group’s subsidiary company acquired an additional 26% equity interest in its 49%-owned joint 
venture company, Penguin Marine Boats Servies L.L.C.. Upon the acquisition, Penguin Marine Boats Services L.L.C. 
became a subsidiary of the Group (Note 13).

The aggregate amounts of current assets, non-current assets, current liabilities, non-current liabilities, income and 
expenses not adjusted for the proportion of the Group’s interest in the jointly-controlled entity are as follows:

Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Assets and liabilities:
Total assets 31,119 18,254

Total liabilities (26,274) (17,850)

Results:
Revenue 9,337 10,262

(Loss)/Profi t for the year (1,571) 300
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15. Other investments
Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Quoted equity shares 11 11 11 11
Unquoted equity shares 287 287 287 287
Impairment losses (292) (292) (292) (292)

6 6 6 6

Movement of impairment losses:

Balance of beginning of the year 292 287 292 287
Additional impairment – 5 – 5

Balance of end of the year 292 292 292 292

16. Intangible asset
Goodwill

$’000

Group

Cost
At 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2009 291

Accumulated impairment loss
At 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2009 (213)

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2009 78

Goodwill on consolidation arose from the acquisition of PT Kim Seah Shipyard Indonesia during the fi nancial year ended 
31 December 2006.  The goodwill amount was determined based on the purchase consideration paid on the date of 
purchase less the fair value of the net assets acquired. The goodwill has been allocated to the property held by PT Kim 
Seah Shipyard Indonesia as a cash generating unit (CGU) for impairment testing.

No impairment loss for goodwill was assessed to be required for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2009 as the 
recoverable value (market value of the property based on independent professional valuer) was in excess of its carrying 
value.
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17. Inventories
Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trading stocks 487 442 329 396
Engines and propellers – 492 – –
Parts and spares 638 229 – –
Repairs and maintenance work-in-progress 11 1,239 – –
Shipbuilding work-in-progress 9,320 2,419 – –

10,456 4,821 329 396

18. Work-in-progress in excess of progress billings
Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Contract costs incurred to-date 55,163 22,766
Recognised profi ts less recognised losses to-date (4,196) (1,861)

50,967 20,905
Progress billings (31,869) (19,732)

19,098 1,173

Presented as:
Work-in-progress in excess of progress billings 19,098 6,407
Billings on work-in-progress in excess of related costs – (5,234)

19,098 1,173

19. Trade receivables
Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables 16,653 15,996 91 372
Allowance for impairment (975) (956) – –

15,678 15,040 91 372
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19. Trade receivables (cont’d)

Included in trade receivables are amounts denominated in the following foreign currencies:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Indonesian Rupiah 58 67 – –
United States Dollar 11,269 11,491 – –
United Arab Emirates Dirham 880 – – –

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-days terms.  They are recognised at their original 
invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

Receivables that are past due but not impaired

The Company has trade receivables amounting to $6,808,000 (2008:$6,767,000) that are past due at the balance sheet 
date but not impaired. These receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their aging at the balance sheet date is as 
follows:

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Less than 30 days 3,530 3,718
30 to 60 days 1,358 2,013
61 to 90 days 981 268
More than 90 days 939 768

At 31 December 6,808 6,767

Receivables that are impaired

The Company’s trade receivables that are impaired at the balance sheet date and the movement of the allowance 
accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

At 1 January 956 1,493
Acquisition of subsidiary 74 –
Recovered during the year (26) –
Bad debts written off against allowance (245) (516)
Charge to the profi t and loss account 260 36
Disposal of subsidiary (21) –
Exchange difference (23) (57)

At 31 December 975 956
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19. Trade receivables (cont’d)

Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the balance sheet date relate to debtors that are in 
signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties and have defaulted on payments.  These receivables are not secured by any collateral or 
credit enhancements.

20. Other receivables and deposits

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other receivables 2,764 2,730 704 888
Deposits 16,561 18,087 80 110
Insurance claims 931 414 11 –

20,256 21,231 795 998

Included in other receivables and deposits are amounts denominated in the following foreign currencies:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Malaysia Ringgit 15 5 – 5
Indonesian Rupiah 139 138 57 –
United States Dollar 15,795 16,470 – 78
Euro 378 308 – –
United Arab Emirates Dirham 778 – – –

21. Due from subsidiaries (non-trade)/Deposits from subsidiaries/Loans to subsidiaries

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, bears interest of 2.6% to 4.74% (2008: 4.19% to 5.42%) per annum 
and repayable on demand.

Deposits from subsidiaries are unsecured, bear interest of Nil% (2008: 0.8125% to 4.17%) per annum and repayable 
on demand.

Loans to subsidiaries are unsecured, bear interest of 2.6% to 4.74% (2008: 4.19% to 5.42%) per annum and repayable 
on demand.

Included in loan to subsidiaries of the Company are $5,018,000 (2008: $4,685,000) denominated in United States 
Dollar.
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22. Due from a related company (non-trade)/Due from joint venture company (non-trade)

The amounts due from a related company/joint venture company are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand.

23. Due from an affi liated company (trade)

The amount due from an affi liated company is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

24. Loan to joint venture company

The loan to joint venture company in the previous fi nancial year was unsecured, bears interest of 4.72% to 8.27% per 
annum and repayable on demand.

25. Cash and cash equivalents

Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Cash and bank balances 5,999 6,044
Short term deposits 19,302 27,866

25,301 33,910

Included in cash and cash equivalents are amounts denominated in the following foreign currencies:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

United States Dollar 5,382 4,383 119 1,816
Indonesian Rupiah 120 151 4 10
Malaysia Ringgit 19 50 9 5
United Arab Emirates Dirham 162 – – –
Others 2 1 2 1

Cash at banks earn interest at fl oating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  Short term deposits are made for varying 
periods of between one day and six months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn 
interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.

The short term deposits of $19,302,000 (2008 : $26,499,000) are pledged with licensed banks for banking facilities 
granted to the Group.
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25. Cash and cash equivalents (cont’d)

For the purpose of the consolidated cash fl ow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following as at 31 December:

Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Cash and bank balances 5,999 6,044
Short term deposits – 1,367

Cash and cash equivalents 5,999 7,411

26. Assets classifi ed as held for sale

The motor launches classifi ed as held for sale in the previous fi nancial year are as follows:

Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Cost (Note 12) – 760
Accumulated depreciation (Note 12) – (536)

Net carrying amount – 224

In 2008, two motor launches under property, plant and equipment were transferred to assets classifi ed as held for sale 
as their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through sale.

During the year, these motor launches were transferred back to plant and equipment as they will be used in the 
business to generate economic benefi ts to the Group.

27. Trade payables

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms.

Included in trade payables are amounts denominated in the following foreign currencies:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Euro 758 259 – –
Norwegian Krone – 192 – –
United States Dollar 2,058 720 3 –
Indonesian Rupiah 23 74 – –
Malaysia Ringgit 15 18 – –
Thailand Baht – 7 – –
United Arab Emirates Dirham 557 – – –
Others 25 – – –
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28. Other payables and accruals

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Provision for liquidated damages 2,826 3,881 – –
Accrued operating expenses 6,978 6,774 2,101 1,529
Amount due to minority shareholder of a subsidiary 6,993 – – –
Advance payments and deposits received 1,609 951 36 150
Accrued interest expense 72 109 32 8
Other payables 719 499 433 258

19,197 12,214 2,602 1,945

Included in other payables and accruals are amounts denominated in the following foreign currencies:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Indonesian Rupiah 40 104 – –
United States Dollar 11,409 6,186 – 1
Malaysia Ringgit 1 1 – 1
United Arab Emirates Dirham 1,596 – – –

29. Term loans
Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Secured term loans
Bank loans
Due within one year 9,905 9,816 6,500 8,378
Due after one year 7,376 8,984 – –

17,281 18,800 6,500 8,378

Due within one year:
Bank loan I – 7,500 – 7,500
Bank loan II – 878 – 878
Bank loan III 1,405 1,438 – –
Bank loan IV 6,500 – 6,500 –
Bank loan V 2,000 – – –

9,905 9,816 6,500 8,378
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29. Term loans (cont’d)
Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Due after one year:
Bank loan III 7,376 8,984 – –

7,376 8,984 – –

Included in term loans of the Group are $8,781,000 (2008: $11,300,000) denominated in United States Dollar.

Bank loan I and II

Bank loan I and II bear interest of 2.03% to 2.11%% (2008: 2.63% to 3.42%) and 2.35% to 2.70% (3.00% to 9.00%) 
per annum respectively and were repaid during the year.

Bank Loan III

This loan bears interest of 2.14% to 3% (2008: 4.68% to 7.24%) per annum. 

Bank loan IV

This loan bears interest of 3.18% to 3.27% (2008: Nil%) per annum. 

Bank loan V

This loan bears interest of 3.00 to 3.19% (2008: Nil%) per annum. 

The Group’s loans from the banks are secured by way of:

(a) mortgage over certain of the Company’s motor launches (Note 12);

(b) mortgage over certain motor launches of subsidiaries (Note 12);

(c) an assignment of insurance policies in respect of the mortgaged motor launches;

(d) an assignment of charter earnings/charter contracts in respect of the mortgaged motor launches; and

(e) mortgage over a subsidiary’s travel lifts (Note 12).
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30. Commitments

(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for as at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the fi nancial statements are as 
follows:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Capital commitments in respect of property, 
plant and equipment 2,872 110,757 521 4,015

(b) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

The Group and the Company have entered into commercial leases for offi ce premises.  These leases have an average life 
of between 1 and 30 years with no escalation clauses included in the contracts.  There are no restrictions placed upon 
the Group or the Company by entering into these leases.  Operating lease payments recognised in the consolidated 
income statement during the year amounted to $1,515,000 (2008: $2,220,000).

Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Future minimum lease
- not later than 1 year 1,189 1,528 480 502
- later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 1,320 1,568 945 719
- later than 5 years 2,260 1,931 2,260 1,931

4,769 5,027 3,685 3,152
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30. Commitments (cont’d)

(c) Finance lease commitments

The Group has fi nance leases for two (2008: one) of its motor vehicles. The lease has a purchase option at the end of 
the lease term of fi ve years. Purchase option is at the option of the specifi c entity that holds the lease. There are no 
restrictions placed upon the Group by entering into the lease. The average discount rate implicit in the lease is 7.58% 
(2008: 7.58%) per annum.

Future minimum lease payments under the fi nance leases together with the present value of the net minimum lease 
payments are as follows:

Minimum
lease

payments
Present value 
of payments

Minimum
lease

payments

Present 
value of 

payments

2009 2009 2008 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Not later than one year 21 20 16 14
Later than one year but not later than fi ve years 12 12 10 10
Later than fi ve years – – –

Total minimum lease payments 33 32 26 24
Less: Amounts representing fi nance charges (1) – (2) –

Present value of minimum lease payments 32 32 24 24

(d) Continuing fi nancial support

The Company has undertaken to provide continuing fi nancial support to nine of its subsidiaries to enable them to 
operate as going concerns and to meet their obligations for at least 12 months from the date of their respective 
directors’ reports relating to the 31 December 2009 fi nancial statements.  The subsidiaries are Penguin Ferry Services 
Pte Ltd, Pelican Offshore Services Sdn Bhd, Soon Tian Oon Pte Ltd, Marlin Industrial Services Pte. Ltd,  PKS Shipyard 
Pte Ltd, PT Kim Seah Shipyard Indonesia, Penguin Ship Management Services Pte Ltd, Vista Marine Services Pte Ltd 
and Penguin Marine Boats Services L.L.C.
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31. Derivative liability

As at 31 December 2009, the Group has no outstanding forward currency contracts.

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had the following outstanding forward currency contract which do not qualify for 
hedge accounting:

2009 2008

Contractual/
Notional
 amount Assets Liabilities

Contractual/
Notional
 amount Assets Liabilities

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Options – – – 4,624 – (67)

The fair value of the outstanding derivative contract as at year end was as provided by the bank.  A fair value loss of $Nil 
(2008: $67,000) with respect to the outstanding contract had been taken to the income statement.

Derivative contracts are used to hedge the Group’s net sales denominated in USD for which fi rm commitments existed 
at the balance sheet date. During the year, a net loss of $145,000 (2008: gain of $34,000) from the derivative contracts 
was recognised in the fi nancial statements.

32. Deferred tax liabilities

Group Company

Consolidated
balance sheet

Conso-
lidated

income
statement

Conso-
lidated

income
statement Balance sheet

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred tax liabilities

Differences in depreciation (8,586) (8,637) (55) 197 (2,294) (2,257)
Sundry provisions (1,362) (1,307) (75) (524) – 90
Asset revaluation reserve (499) (499) – – – –
Unabsorbed capital allowance and 
unutilised tax losses carried forward 17 311 (295) (441) – –

(10,430) (10,132) (425) (768) (2,294) (2,167)
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32. Deferred tax liabilities (cont’d)

During the year, the Company and four subsidiary companies (2008: four subsidiary companies) transferred $3,795,000 
(2008: $828,000) of their current year tax losses and capital allowances to be deducted against assessable income of 
one of the company’s subsidiary (2008: the Company) pursuant to the Group Relief Scheme, subject to compliance with 
the relevant rules and procedures and agreement of the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore.  The tax savings arising 
from the application of Group Relief amounted to approximately $645,000 (2008: $149,000).

At the balance sheet date, the Group has tax losses of approximately $2,244,000 (2008: $2,563,000) that are available 
for offset against future taxable profi ts of the companies in which the losses arose, for which no deferred tax asset 
is recognised due to uncertainty of its recoverability. The use of these tax losses is subject to the agreement of the 
tax authorities and compliance with certain provisions of the tax legislation of the respective countries in which the 
companies operate.

33. Share capital

Group and Company

2009 2008

No. of
shares $’000

No. of
shares $’000

‘000 ‘000

Issued and fully paid
Opening balance at 1 January 528,414 88,842 440,414 75,464
Issue of shares at $0.05 
  (2008: $0.157) per share 132,104 6,605 88,000 13,816
Share issue expenses – (504) – (438)

Closing balance at 31 December 660,518 94,943 528,414 88,842

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary 
shares which have no par value carry one vote per share without restrictions.

On 14 January 2009, the Company allotted and issued 132,103,610 new ordinary shares in the capital of the Company 
(the “New Shares”) at the issue price of S$0.05 per share pursuant to a renounceable, partially underwritten Rights 
Issue.

The net proceeds from the Rights Issue will be used as working capital of the Company.
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34. Other reserves

Group Company

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Asset revaluation reserve 1,399 1,399 – –
Foreign currency translation reserve (3,675) (3,090) – –

(2,276) (1,691) – –

(a) Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve records increases/(decreases) in the fair value of motor launches to the extent that such 
(decrease)/increase relates to a increase/(decrease) on the same asset previously recognised in equity.

At 1 January 1,399 2,366 – –
Disposal of revalued motor launch – (967) – –

At 31 December 1,399 1,399 – –

(b) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising from the translation of the fi nancial 
statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation 
currency.

Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

At 1 January (3,090) (3,070)
Net effect of exchange differences arising from translation of fi nancial statements of 

foreign operations (585) (20)

At 31 December (3,675) (3,090)
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35. Related party transactions

(a) Sale and purchase of goods and services

 In addition to related party information disclosed elsewhere in the fi nancial statements, the following signifi cant 
transactions between the Group and related parties who are not members of the Group took place during the 
year on terms agreed between the parties:

Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Sale of goods to affi liated company 1,556 2,108
Ferry ticket sales to an affi liated company 1,880 2,399
Sale of motor launches to a joint venture company – 12,389
Sale of a motor vehicle to a related party – 11
Charter hire fee received from an affi liated company 138 –
Charter hire expenses paid to an affi liated company 1,739 1,781
IT service fees paid to a related party – 24
Commission paid to a related party 28 26

(b) Compensation of key management personnel 

Short-term employee benefi ts 2,620 3,918
Central Provident Fund contributions 90 108

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 2,710 4,026

Comprise amounts paid to:
  Directors of the Company 1,117 2,030
  Other key management personnel 1,593 1,996

2,710 4,026

 The remuneration of key management personnel is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to 
the performance of individuals and market trends.
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36. Guarantees

(a) The Group and Company had outstanding bank guarantees amounting to approximately $38,813,000 (2008: 
$28,679,000) and $22,797,000 (2008: $9,590,000) respectively, in respect of the performance of certain 
shipbuilding, charter-hire and maintenance contracts.

(b) The Company has provided corporate guarantees amounting to US$39,397,087 (2008: US$56,065,000) and 
S$3,000,000 (2008: S$3,000,000) for loans taken by its subsidiaries.

37. Segment information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services, and has 
three reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) The ferry and charter services segment provides charter of passenger ferries services and chartering of motor 
launches.

(b) The repairs and maintenance/boat building segments act as a builder of high-speed aluminum and steel 
commercial vessels and supplier of related repairs and maintenance services.

(c) The others segment is involved in the provision of bunkering services, scaffolding services, grating sales and 
sales of tour and travel packages.

Except as indicated above, no operating results have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating 
segments.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about 
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profi t or loss 
which in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured differently from operating profi t or loss in the 
consolidated fi nancial statements. Group fi nancing (including fi nance costs) and income taxes are managed on a group 
basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third 
parties.
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37. Segment information (cont’d)

Ferry and charter
services

Repair and 
maintenance/
boat building Others

Adjustments and 
eliminations Notes Total

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue:

Sales to external 
customers 53,793 48,457 54,098 40,644 6,103 9,294 – – 113,994 98,395

Inter-segment sales 25 84 2,557 1,555 5,596 9,013 (8,178) (10,652) A – –

Total revenue 53,818 48,541 56,655 42,199 11,699 18,307 (8,178) (10,652) 113,994 98,395

Results:

Interest Income 344 671 9 130 – – (296) (360) B 57 441
Depreciation and 
amortisation 8,837 7,956 437 452 44 199 – – 9,318 8,607

Financial expenses 522 1,026 262 174 70 192 (296) (360) B 558 1,032
Share of results of 
joint venture 791 2 – – – – – – 791 2

Other non-cash 
expenses 293 62 126 1,697 – 12 – – C 419 1,771

Segment profi t/(loss) 9,265 11,413 (1,121) 59 801 (186) (390) 61 D 8,555 11,347

The following table presents assets, liabilities and other segment information regarding the Group’s business segments 
for the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008:

Ferry and charter
services

Repair and 
maintenance/
boat building Others

Adjustments and 
eliminations Notes Total

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets and liabilities:

Additions to non-
current assets 9,426 13,258 545 2,582 – 167 743 – E 10,714 16,007

Other investments 6 6 – – – – – – 6 6
Investment in joint 
venture company – 202 – – – – – – – 202

Goodwill – – 78 78 – – – – 78 78
Segment assets 150,646 131,212 51,812 36,247 2,026 1,918 (8,770) 5,247 F 195,714 174,624

Segment liabilities 25,626 15,580 28,852 14,354 2,180 3,129 12,576 27,802 G 69,234 60,865
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37. Segment information (cont’d)

Notes Nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the consolidated fi nancial 
statements

A Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation

B Inter-segment interest income and fi nance expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

C Other non-cash expenses consist of inventories written-down, provisions, and impairment of fi nancial assets 
presented in the respective notes to the fi nancial statements.

D The following items are added to/ (deducted from) segment profi t to arrive at “Profi t before tax from continuing 
operations” presented in the consolidated income statement:

2009 2008

$’000 $’000
(Profi t)/ loss from inter-segment sales (35) 409
Unallocated depreciation and amortisation (355) (348)

(390) 61

E Additions to non-current assets consist of additions to leasehold building, motor launches, scaffolding equipment, 
machinery & equipment, offi ce equipment and motor vehicles

F The following items are added to/ (deducted from) segment assets to arrive at total assets reported in the 
consolidated balance sheet:

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Inter-segment assets (14,946) (327)
Unallocated assets 6,176 5,574

(8,770) 5,247

G The following items are added to/ (deducted from) segment liabilities to arrive at total liabilities reported in the 
consolidated balance sheet:

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Provision for income tax 1,078 1,767
Deferred tax liabilities 10,430 10,132
Term loans 17,281 18,800
Finance lease liabilities 32 24
Inter-segment liabilities (16,245) (2,921)

12,576 27,802
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37. Segment information (cont’d)

(b) Geographical information

 Revenue information based on the geographical location of customers is as follows:

Group

Revenue
2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Singapore 26,321 24,486
Rest of Southeast Asia 24,554 43,044
West Africa 7,509 13,005
Middle East 54,130 17,545
Others 1,480 315

113,994 98,395

 In the opinion of the Directors, it would be inaccurate to analyse assets and capital expenditure by geographical 
segment because the assets cannot be meaningfully allocated as the vessels can be deployed on different 
routes.

38. Fair value of fi nancial instruments

Fair value is defi ned as the amount at which the fi nancial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between 
knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.  Fair values are 
obtained from quoted market prices, discounted cash fl ow models and option pricing models as appropriate.

Fair value hierarchy

The Group classifi es fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that refl ects the signifi cance of the inputs used 
in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy have the following levels:

- Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

- Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices), and

- Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market date (unobservable inputs)

Determination of fair value

Quoted equity instruments (Note 15): Fair value is determined directly by reference to their published market bid prices 
at the balance sheet date. Quoted equity investments are thus classifi ed under Level 1.
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39. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to fi nancial risks arising from its operations and the use of fi nancial instruments.  The key fi nancial 
risks include interest rate risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and foreign currency risk.  It is, and has been throughout the 
current and previous fi nancial year, the Group’s policy that no derivatives shall be undertaken.  The Group does not apply 
hedge accounting.

The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s exposure to the above mentioned fi nancial risks and the 
objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

(a) Credit risk

The carrying amount of cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables, amounts due from affi liated 
company/joint venture represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to fi nancial assets. No 
other fi nancial assets carry a signifi cant exposure to credit risk.

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit 
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount.

Credit risk concentration profi le

The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country and industry sector profi le of its 
trade receivables on an on-going basis. The credit risk concentration profi le of the Group’s trade receivables at 
the balance sheet date is as follows:

Group

2009 2008
$’000 % $’000 %

By country:
West Africa – – 4,270 28%
Middle East 9,538 61% 3,127 21%
Singapore 3,107 20% 3,699 25%
Indonesia 1,732 11% 1,752 12%
Malaysia 577 4% 1,142 7%
Thailand – – 193 1%
Vietnam 549 3% 841 6%
India 162 1% – –
Others 13 0% 16 0%

15,678 100% 15,040 100%

By industry sectors:
Ferry and charter 9,470 60% 7,922 52%
Repair and maintenance/boat building 5,629 36% 6,633 44%
Others 579 4% 485 4%

15,678 100% 15,040 100%
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39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a) Credit risk (cont’d)

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment 
record with the Group. Cash and cash equivalents that are neither past due nor impaired are placed with reputable 
fi nancial institutions with high credit ratings and no history of default.

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

Information regarding fi nancial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 19.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter diffi culty in meeting fi nancial obligations due to shortage 
of funds. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of fi nancial 
assets and liabilities.

To ensure continuity of funding, the Group exercises prudent liquidity risk management by maintaining suffi cient 
cash and bank balances and the availability of funding from the holding company and bank overdraft facilities.

The table below summarises the maturity profi le of the Group’s fi nancial liabilities at the balance sheet date 
based on contractual undiscounted payments.

1 year
or less

1 to
5 years

Over
5 years Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

2009
Trade payables 14,329 – – 14,329
Other payables and accruals 19,197 – – 19,197
Loans and borrowings 10,026 7,507 – 17,533
Finance lease liabilities 21 12 – 33

43,573 7,519 – 51,092

2008
Trade payables 5,508 – – 5,508
Other payables and accruals 12,214 – – 12,214
Loans and borrowings 10,095 9,414 – 19,509
Finance lease liabilities 16 10 – 26

27,833 9,424 – 37,257
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39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(b) Liquidity risk (cont’d)
1 year
or less

1 to
5 years

Over
5 years Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company

2009
Trade payables 67 – – 67
Other payables and accruals 2,602 – – 2,602
Loans and borrowings 6,552 – – 6,522

9,221 – – 9,221

2008
Trade payables 296 – – 296
Other payables and
  accruals 1,945 – – 1,945
Loans and borrowings 8,529 – – 8,529

10,770 – – 10,770

(c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash fl ows of the Group’s fi nancial instruments will 
fl uctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily 
from loans and borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates with all other 
variables held constant, of the Group’s profi t net of tax (through the impact of interest expense on fl oating rate 
loans and borrowings).
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39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(c) Interest rate risk (cont’d)
Group

Increase/ 
decrease in 
basis points

Effect on 
profi t net 

of tax

$’000

2009
- Singapore Dollar + 50 (35)
- United States Dollar + 50 (36)

- Singapore Dollar – 50 35
- United States Dollar – 50 36

2008
- Singapore Dollar + 50 (31)
- United States Dollar + 50 (46)

- Singapore Dollar – 50 31
- United States Dollar – 50 46

(d) Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases that are denominated in a 
currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities, primarily SGD, Malaysia Ringgit 
(Ringgit) and United States Dollars (USD). The foreign currency in which these transactions are denominated 
is mainly United States Dollar (USD). Approximately 27% (2008: 28%) of the Group’s sales are denominated in 
foreign currency whilst almost 70% (2008: 82%) of costs are denominated in the respective functional currencies 
of the Group entities.

The Group and the Company also hold cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies for working 
capital purposes. At the balance sheet date, such foreign currency balances (mainly in USD) amounted to 
$5,685,000 (2008: $4,585,000) and $134,000 (2008: $1,832,000) for the Group and the Company respectively.

The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in foreign operations, 
including United Arab Emirates, Malaysia and Indonesia.  The Group’s net investments in United Arab Emirates, 
Malaysia and Indonesia that are not hedged as currency positions in Dirham, Ringgit and Rupiah are considered 
to be long-term in nature.

The foreign currency risk is primarily managed by natural hedges of matching assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies.  The Group has also been closely monitoring the foreign currency risk and has considered 
various hedging options for signifi cant foreign currency exposure as and when the need arises.
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39. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(d) Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the USD exchange rate 
(against SGD), with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profi t net of tax.

Profi t net
of tax

Profi t net
of tax

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

USD/SGD – strengthened 3% (2008: 3%) (187) 267
USD/SGD – weakened 3% (2008: 3%) 187 (267)

40. Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy 
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.  To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders or issue new shares.  No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years 
ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group’s 
policy is to maintain the gearing ratio at less than 50%. The Group includes within net debt, loans and borrowings, less 
cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent.

Group

2009 2008

$’000 $’000

Loans and borrowings (Note 29) 17,281 18,800
Less:
- Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) (25,301) (33,910)

Net cash (8,020) (15,110)

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent 126,480 113,759

Total capital 126,480 113,759

Capital and net debt 134,500 128,869

Gearing ratio N.M. N.M.

N.M. Not meaningful
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41. Authorisation of fi nancial statements for issue

The fi nancial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution 
of the Directors on 23 March 2010.
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 23 March 2010

Number of fully Issued and Paid up shares (excluding treasury shares) : 660,518,052
Class of Shares : Ordinary Shares
Voting Rights : 1 vote per share
Treasury Shares : NIL

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1 – 999 43 0.44 15,293 0.00
1,000 – 10,000 5,115 51.79 19,001,244 2.88
10,001 – 1,000,000 4,679 47.38 295,071,325 44.67
1,000,001 and above 39 0.39 346,430,190 52.45

TOTAL 9,876 100.00 660,518,052 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name No. of Shares %

1. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir 107,140,000 16.22
2. KS Investments Pte Ltd 41,233,750 6.24
3. Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 18,237,149 2.76
4. Heng Kheng Seng or Khiew Lun Heong 12,610,478 1.91
5. Mayban Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 12,520,000 1.90
6. Raffl es Nominees (Pte) Ltd 11,627,000 1.76
7. Meco Pte Ltd 10,000,000 1.51
8. Ng Tiong Thay 10,000,000 1.51
9. Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 9,928,250 1.50

10. OCBC Securities Private Ltd 9,526,500 1.44
11. DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 8,822,773 1.34
12. United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 8,292,250 1.26
13. Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd 7,386,000 1.12
14. DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 6,999,750 1.06
15. Chan Soo Hin 6,308,000 0.96
16. DBSN Services Pte Ltd 5,194,750 0.79
17. Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd. 5,155,000 0.78
18. Citibank Consumer Nominees Pte Ltd 5,102,000 0.77
19. Frederick Huang Tong Leong 5,000,000 0.76
20. OCBC Nominees Singapore Private Limited 4,522,500 0.68

TOTAL 305,606,150 46.27

Percentage of Shareholdings held by the Public as at 23 March 2010
Based on the Register of Shareholders, and to the best knowledge of the Company, the percentage of shareholdings held

in the hands of public is approximately 73.8%. Accordingly, the Company complies with rule 723 of the Listing Manual.
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STATISTICS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 23 March 2010

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Name of Substantial Shareholder No. of Shares % No. of Shares %

Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir (note 1) 107,140,000 16.22 22,860,649 3.46
KS Investments Pte Ltd 41,233,750 6.24 – –
Keppel Offshore & Marine Ltd (note 2) – – 41,233,750 6.24
Keppel Corporation Limited (note 2) – – 41,233,750 6.24
Temasek Holdings (Pte) Ltd (note 2) – – 41,233,750 6.24

Note 1: Mr Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir’s deemed interest is arrived as follows:
  Shares held by Phillip Securities Pte Ltd for Mr Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir 12,860,649
  Shares held by Raffl es Nominees Pte Ltd for Wong Bei Keen 10,000,000
  (spouse of Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir)

22,860,649

Note 2:  Keppel Offshore & Marine Ltd, Keppel Corporation Limited and Temasek Holdings (Pte) Ltd are deemed to be

interested in the shares owned by KS Investments Pte Ltd by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, 

Cap 50.
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LIST OF PROPERTIES

Location Purpose Approx. Area (in m2) Tenure of Lease

Lot 2501C Mukim 7 Private Lot 
No A15279
18 Tuas Basin Link
Singapore 638784

Four storey offi ce building with
waterfront

11,192 30 years with effect from
December 1995

Kawasan Industri
Sekupang, Kampong Baru
Kelurahan Tanjung Riau
No 61 Sekupang Batam
Indonesia

Single storey offi ce building with
workshop and waterfront-

43,991 30 years with effect from
May 2000

Details of the Group’s properties as at 31 December 2009 are as follows:
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PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(Company Registration Number: 197600165Z)

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 2010 Annual General Meeting of Penguin International Limited (the “Company”) will be 
held on Thursday, 29 April 2010 at 11.30 a.m. at 18 Tuas Basin Link, Singapore 638784, to transact the following businesses:-

Ordinary Business

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Financial Statements for the 
fi nancial year ended 31 December 2009 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.

Resolution 1

2. To approve the proposed Directors’ fees of S$245,833 for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 
2009 (2008: S$158,333).

Resolution 2

3. To re-elect Mr. Ong Kian Min, a Director retiring pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association. 
[See Explanatory Note (a)]

Resolution 3

4. To re-elect Mr. Wong Ngiam Jih, a Director retiring pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association. 
[See Explanatory Note (b)]

Resolution 4

5. To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors for the ensuing year and to authorise the Directors 
to fi x their remuneration.

Resolution 5

6. To transact any other business of the Company which may properly be transacted at an Annual 
General Meeting.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fi t, to pass, with or without modifi cations, the following Ordinary Resolutions:

7. Share Issue Mandate Resolution 6

(a) “That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and the listing rules of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), authority be and is hereby 
given to the Directors of the Company to :-

(i) issue shares in the capital of the Company whether by way of bonus issue, rights 
issue or otherwise; and/or

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively “Instruments”) that 
might or would require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the 
creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other 
instruments convertible into shares; and/or

(iii) issue additional Instruments convertible into shares arising from adjustments 
made to the number of Instruments,
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at any time to such persons and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes  
as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fi t and (notwithstanding the 
authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in 
pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution is 
in force, provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this 
Resolution (including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted 
pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 50% of the total number of issued shares 
(excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time of passing of this 
Resolution, of which the aggregate number of shares issued other than on a pro rata 
basis does not exceed 20% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury 
shares) in the capital of the Company.

(b) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued 
under sub-paragraph (a) above, the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury 
shares) shall be based on the total number of issued shares of the Company (excluding 
treasury shares) as at the time of the passing of this Resolution after adjusting for:

(i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities 
which were issued pursuant to previous shareholders’ approval, and which 
are outstanding as at the date of the passing of this Resolution,

(ii) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards 
outstanding or subsisting at the time this Resolution is passed; and

(iii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of the shares; and

(c) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting) the authority conferred 
by this Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General 
of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.”
[See Explanatory Note (c)]                                                                                                                  

8. The Proposed Renewal of the General Mandate for Interested Person Transactions Resolution 7

“That:

(1) approval be and is hereby given, for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the listing manual 
(“Listing Manual”) of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), 
for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies that are entities at risk (as 
that term is used in Chapter 9), or any of them, to enter into any of the transactions 
falling within the types of interested person transactions described in Section 2.3 of 
the Letter to Shareholders dated 13 April 2010 with the Interested Persons described 
in Section 2.1.1 of the Letter to Shareholders dated 13 April 2010, provided that 
such transactions are in accordance with the review procedures for such interested 
person transactions;

(2) the approval given in paragraph (1) above (the “IPT Mandate”) shall, unless revoked or 
varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Company; 
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(3) the Audit Committee of the Company be and is hereby authorised to take such action as 
it deems proper in respect of procedures and/or to modify or implement such procedures 
as may be necessary for this IPT Mandate (as defi ned in paragraph (2) above) to take 
into consideration any amendment to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual which may be 
prescribed by SGX-ST from time to time, and such other applicable laws and rules; and 

(4) the Directors and any of them be and are hereby authorized to complete and do all such 
acts and things (including execution all such documents as may be required) as they 
or he may consider expedient or necessary or in the interests of the Company to give 
effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorized by the IPT Mandate and/or 
this Resolution.”
[See Explanatory Note (d)]

9. The Proposed Renewal of the Share Buy Back Mandate Resolution 8

“That:

(a) for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of 
Singapore (the “Companies Act”), the exercise by the Directors of the Company of all 
the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire issued ordinary shares in 
the capital of the Company (the “Shares”) not exceeding in aggregate the Prescribed 
Limit (as hereafter defi ned), at such price(s) as may be determined by the Directors 
of the Company from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter defi ned), 
whether by way of:-

(i) on-market purchase(s) (each an “On-Market Share Buy Back”), transacted on 
the SGX-ST; and/or

(ii) off-market purchase(s) (each an “Off-Market Equal Access Share Buy Back”) 
effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST in accordance with any equal access 
scheme(s) as may be determined or formulated by the Directors of the Company 
as they consider fi t, which scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed 
by the Companies Act, and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and 
regulations and rules of the SGX-ST as may for the time being be applicable, be 
and is hereby authorised and approved generally and unconditionally (the “Share 
Buy Back Mandate”);

(b) unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred 
on the Directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Buy Back Mandate may be 
exercised by the Directors at any time and from time to time during the period 
commencing from the passing of this Resolution and expiring on the earlier of:-

(i) the date on which the next annual general meeting of the Company 
is held; 

(ii) the date on which the Share Buy Backs are carried out to the full extent 
mandated; or

(iii) the date by which next annual general meeting of the Company is required 
by law to be held;
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(c) In this Resolution:-

“Prescribed Limit” means ten per cent. (10%) of the total number of ordinary shares 
issued by the Company as at the date of passing of this Resolution; and

“Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, means an amount 
(excluding brokerage, commission, stamp duties, applicable goods and services tax, 
clearance fees and other related expenses) not exceeding:-

(i) in the case of an On-Market Share Buy Back, 105% of the Average Closing 
Price of the Shares; and

(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Equal Access Share Buy Back pursuant to an 
equal access scheme, 110% of the Average Closing Price of the Shares;

Where:-

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the last dealt prices of an ordinary 
Share for the fi ve consecutive Market Days on which the ordinary Shares are transacted 
on the SGX-ST immediately preceding the date of the On-Market Share Buy Back by the 
Company or, as the case may be, the date of the making of the offer pursuant to the 
Off-Market Equal Access Buy Back, and deemed to be adjusted, in accordance with the 
Listing Manual, for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant fi ve-day period; 
and

“Date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company announces 
its intention to make an offer for an Off-Market Equal Access Share Buy Back, stating 
the purchase price which shall not be more than 110% of the Average Closing Price of 
the ordinary shares (excluding related expenses of the purchase or acquisition) for each 
ordinary share and the relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-
Market Equal Access Share Buy Back.

(d) the Directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to 
complete and do all such acts and things (including executing such documents as may 
be required) as they and/or he may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the 
transactions contemplated by this Resolution.”
[See Explanatory Note (e)] 

By Order Of The Board
Chuang Sheue Ling
Company Secretary
13 April 2010
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Explanatory Notes: 

(a) Mr. Ong Kian Min, if re-elected, will continue to serve as Chairman of the Audit Committee and member of the 
Remuneration and Nominating Committees and he is considered an independent director for purposes of Rule 704(8) 
of the Listing Manual of The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

(b) Mr. Wong Ngiam Jih, if re-elected, will continue to serve as Chairman of the Nominating Committee and member of 
the Audit and Remuneration Committees and he is considered an independent director for purposes of Rule 704(8) of 
the Listing Manual of The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

(c) The Ordinary Resolution No. 6, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the above Meeting to allot and 
issue shares and convertible securities in the Company up to an amount not exceeding 50% of the total number of 
issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% may be issued other than 
on a pro rata basis.. This authority will, unless previously revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire at the next 
Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

 For the purpose of this resolution, the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) is based on the 
Company’s total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) at the time that this proposed Ordinary Resolution 
is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities, the exercise 
of share options or the vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the time when this proposed Ordinary 
Resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.

(d) Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir and his associates will abstain from voting on the proposed Ordinary Resolution No. 7 relating 
to the renewal of the general IPT Mandate. For the purpose of the abstention, the term “associates” as it relates to 
Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir is defi ned as (i) his immediate family, (ii) the trustees of any trust of which he or his immediate 
family is a benefi ciary or, in the case of a discretionary trust, is a discretionary object; and (iii) any company in which he 
and his immediate family together (directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more.

(e) The Ordinary Resolution No. 8, if passed, will empower the Directors to make purchases (whether by way of market 
purchases or off-market purchases on an equal access scheme) from time to time of up to 10% of the total number of 
issued ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, at the price up to but not exceeding 
the Maximum Price. The rationale for the Share Buy-Back Mandate, the source of funds to be used for the Share Buy-
Back Mandate, the impact of the Share Buy-Back Mandate on the Companyís fi nancial position, the implications arising 
as a result of the Share Buy-Back Mandate under The Singapore Code on Take-overs and Mergers and on the listing of 
the Companyís Shares on the SGX-ST are set out in the Letter to Shareholders dated 13 April 2010.

Note:
1.  A member entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead. A 

proxy need not be a member of the Company.
2.  If a proxy is to be appointed, the form must be deposited at the registered offi ce of the Company, at 18 Tuas Basin Link 

Singapore 638784 not less than 48 hours before the meeting.
3.  The form of proxy must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing.
4.  In case of joint shareholders, all holders must sign the form of proxy.



PROXY FORM
PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(Company Registration Number: 197600165Z)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

Important
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Penguin International Limited’s 

shares, this Annual Report is sent to them at the request of their CPF Approved 
Nominees solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2.   This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors, and shall be ineffective for all 
intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

3. CPF investors who wish to attend the Meeting as an observer must submit their 
requests through their CPF Approved Nominees within the time frame specifi ed. If 
they also wish to vote, they must submit their voting instructions to the CPF Approved 
Nominees within the time frame specifi ed to enable them to vote on their behalf.

I/We  _________________________________________________________________________________________________ (Name)

of  _______________________________________________________________________________________________ (Address)

being a member/members of PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED hereby appoint:-

Name Address NRIC/Passport Number
Proportion of 

Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC/Passport Number
Proportion of 

Shareholdings (%)

or failing whom the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting as my/our* proxy/proxies* to vote for me/us* on my/our* behalf 
and, if necessary, to demand a poll at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be convened on 29 April 2010 at 18 Tuas 
Basin Link, Singapore 638784 at 11.30 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We* direct my/our* proxy/proxies* to vote for or 
against the Ordinary Resolution to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specifi c direction 
as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies* will vote or abstain from voting at his/their* discretion, as he/they* will on any other 
matter arising at the Annual General Meeting.

To be used on
a show of hands

To be used in the
event of a Poll

No. Resolutions Relating: For Against
Number of 
Votes For 

Number of 
Votes Against

1. To adopt Reports and Financial Statements
2. To approve Directors’ Fees
3. To re-elect Mr Ong Kian Min, a Director retiring pursuant 

to Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of Association
4. To re-elect Mr Wong Ngiam Jih, a Director retiring pursuant 

to Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of Association
5. To re-appoint Auditors and authorise the Directors to fi x 

their remuneration
SPECIAL BUSINESS

6. Share Issue Mandate
7. To approve the Proposed Renewal of the General Mandate 

for Interested Person Transactions
8. To approve the Proposed Renewal of the Share Buy Back 

Mandate

If you wish to exercise all your votes For or Against, please tick with ‘ √ ’.  Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes 
For or Against each resolution.

If this form of proxy contains no indication as to how the proxy should vote in relation to each resolution, the proxy will vote or 
abstain from voting at his/her discretion, as he/she will on any other matter arising at the Meeting.

Dated this ___________ day of ____________________ 2010.  

________________________________
Signature(s) of Member(s)/Common Seal

Total No. of Shares No. of Shares

In CDP Register

In Register of Members

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF



NOTES

1) A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in his 
stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2)  Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifi es the proportion 
of his holding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

3) Completion and return of this instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting at 
the Meeting.  Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the Meeting 
in person, and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under 
the instrument of proxy, to the Meeting.

4) A member should insert the total number of shares held. If the member has shares entered against his name in the 
Depository Register (as defi ned in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore), he should insert that 
number of shares. If the member has shares registered in his name in the Register of Members of the Company, he 
should insert that number of shares. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register 
and registered in his name in the Register of Members, he should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number 
is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all shares held by the member.

5) The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s registered offi ce at 18 Tuas Basin 
Link, Singapore 638784 not less than 48 hours before the time set for the Meeting.

6) The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised 
in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either 
under its common seal or under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorised offi cer.

7) Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of 
attorney or a duly certifi ed copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the 
instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

GENERAL

The Company shall be entitled to reject a Proxy Form which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where 
the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specifi ed on the Proxy 
Form. In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject a Proxy Form if the 
member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 
48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certifi ed by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the 
Company.

SPECIAL NOTE:  

Interested Persons in the class described in Section 2.1.1 of the Letter dated 13 April 2010 who shall accept nominations 
as proxies or otherwise may not vote at the AGM in respect of the ordinary resolution unless the shareholders appointing 
them as proxies give specifi c instructions in the relevant proxy forms in the manner in which they wish their votes to 
be cast for the ordinary resolution. 




